University of Twente - Enschede Academic year

Public Governance across Borders

Bachelor Circle The Politics of AI

1st Supervisor Dr. Ringo Ossewaarde

2022/23

2nd Supervisor Dr. Guus Dix

Wordcount 11.062

S. Jentzsch

Program

Surveillance and prejudice:

How is bias in digital surveillance discussed in the public discourse, in the context of select English speaking newspapers after Snowden's leaks from 2013 to the current discussion in 2023?

Abstract

This thesis focuses on the construction of biases in digital surveillance through a Critical Discourse Analysis. Surveillance activities are confined to a narrow set of elite actors, utilizing surveillance in order to oppress the surveyed. In recent years these activities are increasingly done via digital means, e.g. algorithms or AI tools. Following researchers like Shin et al. (2022), these tools inherently and unavoidably contain biases. This research focuses on how surveillance is constructed and portrayed in the media discourse, what kind of biases are attributed to surveillance activity, and how these biases are being used to construct and refine hegemonic structures. To do this, 190 newspaper articles and opinion pieces of English-speaking newspapers over a period of 10 years are analyzed. The analysis shows that surveillance is perceived exclusively digital in the discourse. Biases are also linked to technology and algorithms in particular. They are constructed in terms of mostly racism and used to define the hegemonic surveyor, excluding certain groups of people based on their ethnicity.

Table of Contents

1 Introduction	1
1.1 Scientific and Societal relevance	2
2 Theory	3
2.1 What are the intricacies of surveillance	3
2.2 What are the intricacies of bias	4
3 Methods	6
4 Analysis	8
4.1 (Digital) Surveillance – Or: The Surveyors' hold over Society	8
4.1.1 What does surveillance mean?	11
4.2 Biases and how they shape the Hegemon	11
4.2.1 Material and Formal Biases	11
4.2.2 Material biases and the exclusion of people of color	11
4.2.3 Formal biases and the independent 'racist robots'	13
4.3 The notion and meaning of biases – a construction of the Hegemon	16
5 Conclusion	17
5.1 How is bias discussed?	17
5.2 Discussion, limits and what to do now	17
5.3 Practical implications and closing remarks	18
Appendix I: Coding Table	
Appendix II: Newspaper Articles and Opinion Pieces	

1 Introduction

Digital surveillance has a constant presence in modern societies. Public entities like the US National Security Agency (NSA) build enormous comprehensive databases, creating a state of global mass-surveillance with limited oversight. Private companies like Amazon, Microsoft or Google collect data of users to build the most effective personalized adverts possible. The collection of data on a massive scale is only possible with algorithmic support. It makes surveillance and data processing cheap, accessible and fast. If data is processed via algorithms or even sometimes Artificial Intelligence (AI), the processing and decision-making processes may be prone to inherent a certain amount of bias. Algorithmic bias as a topic has long been called out as an issue by activists (e.g. Harding, 2022; Morse, 2020), and has even found its way into a wide body of scientific literature (e.g. Baker & Hawn, 2021; Bellamy et al., 2018). The public discourse about each of these issues has been active over the past years. Digital surveillance first got a significant amount of attention with Edwards Snowden's revelations about various NSA programs for bulk-collection of data in 2013. In light of the Covid19-Pandemic and the subsequent increase in remote work, the issue of private surveillance at the workplace became more and more broadly discussed in popular media (e.g. Corbyn, 2022; Harwell, 2020).

Likewise algorithmic bias has gained increasingly interest in the last couple of years. Stories about algorithms making decisions in the application process of companies while heavily favoring male applicants (Dastin, 2018), algorithms in police data-bases that heavily flag groups as dangerous based on their ethnicity (Klovig Skelton, 2019), or predatory overreach by law-enforcement agencies fueled by algorithmic surveillance (Ferguson, 2020) have all made headlines in recent years. Discourse analyses about how surveillance is discussed on a public stage have been conducted in plenty, similarly this has been done for algorithmic or AI bias (e.g. Fitzgerald, 2022). For the latter, there is also a broad body of literature regarding the technological and sociological origins (e.g. Perez-Des Rosiers, 2021). Beyond the issue of discourse, both topics of surveillance and bias have been explored in a multitude of facets.

The knowledge gap comes into play at the intersection of both topics. Since surveillance is a very secretive field, studying it, tends to be challenging at best. If researchers want to create in-depth analyses of how biases come into play in digital surveillance, they would need to have access to the technicalities and details of how any algorithm functions at its core, the logic of the strategy the entities employ and a transparent overview of the development timeline of said algorithm. This is no logistically feasible undertaking. Intelligence communities and private companies likewise, safeguard this information and do not grant access to researchers on grounds of security or trade secrets. With this thesis, I intend to offer a baseline from which future research may be able to draw upon. The discourse analysis may provide guiding to uncover, which issues in this highly specific field are most important to the broader public, and how research may contribute to that discourse. This is where I intent to add with this thesis. The research question therefore is:

How is bias in digital surveillance discussed in the public discourse, in the context of select English speaking newspapers after Snowden's leaks from 2013 to the current discussion in 2023?

The thesis is going to start out by giving an overview on surveillance and bias in algorithms and AI. In the theory-section a scope of each will be given, from which a framework for the analysis can be derived. Surveillance can reach from intelligence agencies, over commercial personalized ads up to Covid-19 tracking applications. Bias likewise can be of a broad notion.

This thesis aims at uncovering how the general perception and discussion of both – bias and surveillance – is portrayed in the public discourse, how surveillance is viewed, which notions of biases are discussed and how they are related to surveillance. In order to achieve this I will conduct a Critical Discourse Analysis of a number of newspaper articles, revolving around this topic. In the following there is an outline of subquestions to refine the main research question:

SQ1 What is the predominant notion of bias in the articles and how does it relate to the theoretical framework?

This sub-question is aimed at the kind of bias that is prominent in the selected newspaper articles. It may refer to whether bias is seen as a systemic issue or as a purely technical issue. The notion of bias can thus be viewed through the lens of inherencies in society, as technical problems with a technical solution or it may be portrayed as something different all together. Bias can be seen as an expression of hegemonic power imbalances. Biased decision-making ultimately reinforces them and cements one group's power over another.

SQ2 What meanings are attributed to bias and surveillance that are dominant in media coverage?

This SQ aims at uncovering what the specific context of bias and surveillance perception entails separately. For bias this can either refer to the specific group, which is affected and potentially disadvantaged by it or may refer to the intrinsic assumptions of certain biases, such as political preference in law enforcement. Furthermore, the SQ may also relate to the kind of outcomes biases might produce. Outcomes in this case can be expression of severe systemic injustices or even the rise to prominence of civil rights movement. Discussions about this can be broad and comprehensive. As for the surveillance part, this SQ focuses on what notion of surveillance is prominent in the discourse, whether it is dominated by private or public actors, and whether traditional or digital means of surveying prevail. It also aims at deciphering how surveillance is perceived in terms of surveillance targets (individuals, 'the public', political parties, minorities, etc.).

1.1 Scientific and Societal relevance

The societal relevance for understanding how the construction of bias and surveillance is undertaken, stems from its deep entrenchment in society. Since surveillance has become so present in everyday life, inherent biases effectively mean severe disadvantages for certain groups. In addition to a long-standing history of disadvantaging people of color, there is discrimination of the LGBTQ+ communities. Specifically biases in algorithms have also shown to inherently discriminate women – half of the worlds' population. To understand how the discourse is constructed is also important to challenge these biases and their effects. Essentially they are a mirror of society and eliminating them ultimately is a societal issue – not a technical. An algorithm does exactly what it is told to do, even if its creators do not know or misunderstand what they told it to do. The scientific relevance mainly stems from the significant knowledge gap at the intersection of these two issues. Biases in surveillance are researched very little, but important to understand. It ultimately may lead to understanding the inherent logic by which agencies and companies survey and conduct themselves.

2 Theory

Since surveillance, in particular digital surveillance, has reached a state of ubiquity, encompassing many aspects of daily-life, governments have used it as means to extent power and control, on a scale, which was unknown before the digital age. Below, I will outline the theoretical basis of surveillance in the social sciences. Specific focus is going to be given to how digitization has shaped the surveillance landscape offering new opportunities to the surveyors and the amplification of the inherent power-asymmetries. Surveillance inherently goes along with the Gramski-esk notion of hegemonic power structures in society. Private entities have made it a business to deal with personal data and tailor advertisements to individuals. This acts as an expression of a capitalist power hegemony, especially in the light of the oligopolic private owner structure of technology companies.

Following up on this is going to be a conceptualization of bias in public and private surveillance. Bias is a core concept of this thesis and in the following I will show, which kinds of biases occur in digital surveillance.

2.1 What are the intricacies of surveillance

Surveillance as a concept often is described as the systemic observation of individuals or a group (Fontes et al., 2022; Park, 2021a; Perez-Des Rosiers, 2021). In a broad sense it is aimed at normalizing certain values and behaviors (Fontes et al., 2022; Park, 2021a; Perez-Des Rosiers, 2021; Saheb, 2022). Surveillance can be conducted via direct means - aimed at a particular person with a specific purpose, or indirect by indiscriminately targeting everyone in predefined context (e.g. users of Facebook) on a mass-surveillance scale (Fontes et al., 2022). Surveillance also tends to be conducted by a highly narrow and elitist group of actors which can be both public or private. These oligopolic structures signal a highly asymmetrical relationship between the surveyor and the surveyed (Park & Jones-Jang, 2022). This power-dynamic follows the notion of Bentham's 'Panopticon', which later has been expanded by Foucault (1977): A prison, which is built circular around a watchtower. The guards inside can monitor the prisoners at any given time, the prisoners are aware they may be observed, but have themselves no opportunity to verify, because their view on the observing guards is blocked (Foucault, 1977; Simlai & Sandbrook, 2021). This relationship is inherently asymmetric. Foucault describes this concept, with the notion of the 'internalized gaze' (Foucault, 1977; Simlai & Sandbrook, 2021). Because of their situation, the prisoners discipline themselves and adjust their behavior. With digital tools, this concept is applied on a much larger scale than just in spatially limited prison (Simlai & Sandbrook, 2021).

In general, digital state-surveillance (public surveillance) is considered as invasive and even predatory by the public surveyed, and it therefore requires justification by the entities responsible (Bigo, 2017). To justify this kind of surveillance, public actors often bring up points of safety and resilience to threats to society (Bigo, 2017; Perez-Des Rosiers, 2021; Simlai & Sandbrook, 2021; Westerlund & Leminen, 2021). In democracies with parliamentary oversight, intelligence agencies tend to build a dichotomy between privacy and security, while insisting on the distinction between police-sate-style "mass surveillance" and their "bulk data-collection" (Bigo, 2017).

Private surveillance on the other hand emerged as a part of an all-encompassing digitization of everyday life. It is the logical consequence of a growing desire of personalization and customization (Park, 2021b; Shin et al., 2022). The advancement of big data and the subsequent technological possibilities for comprehensive real-time user-analysis, offer an opportunity to make digital services as convenient as possible. The data-surveillance that goes along with it is regarded more as a by-product, rather than the ends of it (Park, 2021b). Because of the comprehensiveness of the information that can be gathered by it, digital private surveillance has also been viewed as a booster to innovation, enabling companies to improve and tailor their products dynamically (Westerlund & Leminen, 2021).

Digital surveillance is only possible with algorithmic data processing. Within the 'datafication of everything' algorithmic surveillance adds speed, cost-efficiency and an opportunity to significantly scale-up. The algorithmic processing also aids in giving meaning to large quantities of data, which allows for a much more comprehensive surveillance than conventional surveillance (Fontes et al., 2022; Park, 2021a; Park & Jones-Jang, 2022; Perez-Des Rosiers, 2021; Saheb, 2022; Westerlund & Leminen, 2021).

Deploying algorithms for surveillance purposes however, is not a foolproof method. They are likely to contain inherent biases that may strongly impact outputs.

2.2 What are the intricacies of bias

Bias can originate in the datasets they are trained on. If the data is even lightly skewed or biased this directly impacts how the algorithm curates its output (Aradau & Blanke, 2021; Drozdowski et al., 2020; Hermansyah et al., 2023; Janowicz et al., 2018; Minocher & Randall, 2020). If the training data is flawed, the biases within tend to be amplified by algorithmic tools and reinforced. This is called algorithmic amplification (Minocher & Randall, 2020; Shin et al., 2022; Venditti et al., 2019). Algorithms, and AI in particular, are very good at taking narrowly defined tasks and making them as efficient as possible. This also holds true for biases. For example: If a dataset that a decision-making algorithm is trained on, contains a bias, which favors men over any other gender, the decisions it will take, are just as biased as those of an average human, just more efficiently.

With regards to public surveillance, and the implicit acceptance of a trade-off between security and privacy, bias has widespread implications. What Leslie (2020) calls "entrenchment of systemic discrimination" leading to the labeling of categories such as "race" or "gender", which are highly circumstantial and subjective, ultimately can grant legitimacy to systemic racism or prejudice. This entrenchment can influence the selection process of surveillance targets. Selective surveillance like this is rooted in traditions of linking "race" (in the sense of a US-centered heritage interpretation with a white – non-white dichotomy) to differing risks for criminal behavior and can be expressed via "programs encouraging police offices to gather "intelligence" data through arbitrary stop and frisk programs", Vagle (2016, p. 125).

This distinctly offline and analogue way of gathering "intelligence" data, has direct consequences for a datafied and algorithmicly supported surveillance infrastructure. Within predictive policing approaches for example, existing data and statistics on crime are being used in the training dataset for algorithms (Minocher & Randall, 2020; Vagle, 2016) If those statistics are derived from traditional policing built upon prejudice, it naturally transfers into the digital support tools (Shin et al., 2022; Zhai & Krajcik, 2022). This is the link between algorithmic bias from datasets and the bias within the datasets in the first place.

In addition to dataset bias (training bias) there is also prejudice among the engineers and programmers, who design the software. Their bias and their individual social and historical context have an impact on how algorithms operate regarding decision-making processes. They effectively continue these biases (Tiwari, 2023). This is rooted in issues of problem formulation (the way in which parameters of an algorithms are set) or data labeling (Tilmes, 2022). For facial recognition algorithms for example, developers may decide on selecting attributes to define faces, while leaving out others (e.g. shape of the eyes, shape of the nose, etc.). Facial recognition software has been known to be better at recognizing faces of people, who are from the same socio-cultural background as the developers (Leslie, 2020).

Another notion of bias that algorithms may be involved in, relates to the individuals affected by their outputs. Here, algorithms effectively create a bias, within the perception of a person, by providing only specific and one-sided information (Shin et al., 2022). The so called 'availability-bias' is most prominently known as 'filter-bubbles' in the context of social media. This can have the effect that existing levels of

uncertainty, distrust or convictions towards false information are reinforced and even amplified (Shin et al., 2022).

Recognizing this and that Al and algorithms more broadly cannot escape a certain bias, it is also important to note that the existence of it is neither an error nor intended (Shin et al., 2022; Zhai & Krajcik, 2022). Rather it is a reflection of society. Elimination of bias is only possible, once its roots are discovered and effective measures deployed to counter it (Zhai & Krajcik, 2022).

Intersections of the digital and analogue world are a particularly vulnerable to inheriting biases. Datasets that emulate and entail prejudice are joined by a variety of biases when it comes to deploying algorithms. Giovanola and Tiribelli (2022) identify core types of biases when deploying machines learning algorithms in healthcare, which can also be adopted to broader surveillance issues. *Automation bias* is the over-reliance on algorithmic outputs, which can lead to an increase in the risk to overlook inaccuracies regarding vulnerable groups. This type of bias is closely linked to dataset bias and ultimately increases the risk of inappropriate decisions on the side the surveyors. *Biases of feedback loops* are closely connected to algorithmic amplification issues and automation biases. If human actors accept the output of an algorithm as accurate and true, act accordingly and feed this decision back into it, the algorithm then in turn learns from this decision and adapts future decisions and recommendations according to that. These feedback loops may act as a vicious circle that only increases in magnitude and severity over time. The third type are *dismissal biases*. These biases relate to actors interpreting algorithmic outputs, which are known to be systematically incorrect at times, and dismissing them as irrelevant prematurely without verifying their validity.

Bias overall is linked to the concept of hegemony. For one this is the case implicitly by the inseparable connection to surveillance algorithms, but crucially bias is an explicit expression of hegemonic dominance. If hegemony is viewed as the process of rationalizing, naturalizing, and justifying social inequities, biases towards certain groups (whether for their advantage or disadvantage) are an effect of it (Hughes, 2013). Bias on its own cannot be an independent concept. It exists in conjunction with power structures, supporting ideologies and – central to this thesis – a discourse environment that enables them (Hughes, 2013).

To sum up: surveillance, whether public or private, is an expression of a power imbalance, where the powerful exercise surveillance tools to gain some kind of control over the surveyed. This may be for financial gain, security, or oppression. Crucially surveillance can be directed towards certain groups or indirect on a grand scale. Bias in surveillance may occur at any stage during the surveying process. It is rooted in society and inherent to power imbalances. Especially with algorithmic support to surveillance, systemic prejudice is expressed in an amplified way, because these inherent biases are still within decision-making regarding surveillance, but in a way more efficiently than without digital tools.

I expect for the actors within the discourse around bias in surveillance portray bias as an omnipresent danger and threat to equality in a society. Particularly, I expect for bias to be discussed predominately in the context of algorithmic bias in some capacity. This may happen explicitly via discussions on facial recognition software and know issues that go along with it, but also implicitly via for example news coverage on smart-policing initiative. Since it is establish above that it is virtually impossible to part bias from algorithms, it is also reasonable to establish that any discussion about surveillance, which includes algorithmic tools to a degree, ultimately acts as an implicit discussion on bias. The main expectation is that bias is going to be discussed almost exclusively in a digital context, and furthermore exclusively digitally, without linking these biases to the roots where they come from and without recognizing the systemic issues, but rather limiting them to technology solely.

A god way to uncover this is a critical discourse analysis, which will be discussed in the following section.

3 Methods

What I am interested in researching is how the discourse around bias in surveillance is shaped. In order to do this, I will look at a number of newspaper articles and blog contributions from various different backgrounds, since these sources can act as mirror for public discourse on topics (Tiainen, 2017).

A discourse analysis in general is a form of textual analysis, used to study the construction of reality by various actors through language (Given, 2008). The constructions often are the foundations of a political environment and the society at large. The discourse about any issue regarding surveillance is by definition a discourse about power, who exercises it and its inherent injustices. Since surveillance is always an exercise of power of an oligopolic elite over the general population, even discourse about purely technical aspects on how the exercise is conducted, becomes discourse about power asymmetries. Algorithmic bias follows a similar logic. By definition bias within digital tools, results in unequal decision-making logic to some degree. It is a reflection of decision-making in society at large. This also means that discourse about bias inevitably and implicitly is about power asymmetries. Even if it is purely about technical solutions to algorithmic bias, the discourse ultimately revolves around solution to societal issues.

The kind of discourse analysis that fits these conditions is the Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA). A CDA unites issues around discourse, ideology and power (Given, 2008). It helps to analyze, how power relations are perceived, discussed, expressed or questioned by relevant actors involved in the discourse. What is particularly relevant to the discourse, is the Gramsci-esk notion of the hegemonic bloc. This notion upholds that discourse is underlined by an elitist group of power actors, who shape and determine the course of a discussion or a narrative. On the counter-side of this, there is the counter-hegemony, which attempts to influence and shape a discourse by embodying an opposing ideology. Both sides are stuck in a constant struggle to gain the upper-hand. This notion in particular is important to surveillance and bias because of its oligopolic roots. By deploying a CDA approach, these structures can be uncovered and explored.

In this paper the CDA is going to be used to find how public media (newspapers and blog-contributions) shape and create the discourse around surveillance. I intend to uncover how news coverage frames these topics and aims at shaping public discourse and debate on bias in surveillance.

In order to analyze these contributions, the articles need to be coded and structured following a logical baseline. Coding can aid a discourse analysis to uncover meaning by structure. Codes are short keywords or phrases that are helpful in paraphrasing texts and create a quick and accessible overview to find patterns and create categories (Saldaña, 2016). The coding process usually is done in multiple rounds to improve, fine-tune and clarify codes as well as categories. For this paper, there were three rounds of coding, while drawing on the insights of each round to further improve the scheme. The coding scheme is provided in the Appendixes.

The data consists of newspaper articles and relevant blog post from English-speaking sources. The time period from which the sources are going to be collected is 2013 to February 2023. The beginning of this time period is marked by the revelations of Edward Snowden's, who leaked comprehensive information about a global surveillance network by the US-intelligence service NSA in cooperation with various intelligence agencies of the five and fourteen eyes nations together with private contractors like Booz Allen Hamilton. These leaks mark a major point in the recent history of data protection, after which awareness and public interest about surveillance related issues increased significantly. This time period also includes other noteworthy surveillance related issues such as the cambridge analytica affair, or Amazon Alexa's echo voice recognition affair (e.g Remnick, 2018).

The gathering of relevant articles will be done via the open access news repository *paperboy* (*Paperboy Online Newspapers*), endorsed by the WWU Münster (*ULB-LOTSE: Zeitungen*) as well as the open-source and open-access news- and web-crawler 'news-please' (Hamborg et al., 2017). The dataset consists of 190

newspaper articles and opinion pieces by various different media outlets. It is important to note that any data I collected was done so by digital means and I only adopted contributions, which are available online. Due to time constraints, accessibility and a growing availability of formerly offline sources online, this is reasonable.

Since all of these prominent privacy invading events are also supported by algorithmic processing each may contain inherent biases. An increase in awareness of these issues may also lead to an increase in awareness of bias in surveillance. Additionally, especially in the first Quarter 2023 is marked by a growth in prominence of AI-tools, in particular text-generators like OpenAI's ChatGPT. Due to the attention they receive, there also is growing awareness of bias in algorithms (e.g. McCallum, 2023).

After accumulation, the analysis is going to be conducted with the help of Atlas.ti, which is significantly increasing the speed in which the coding can be conducted and the texts analyzed.

The reason a Critical Discourse Analysis is suited well for this thesis, is rooted in the nature of surveillance and bias themselves. As shown, surveillance always is an expression of one group exercising power over another. The powerful group usually is comprised of a minority, which is highly privileged, while the surveyed tend to be either highly disadvantaged minorities, or the vast majority (mass surveillance), which is ultimately powerless. This power dynamic is of highly imbalanced nature, paralleling the notion of hegemony and counter-hegemony after Gramsci.

The hegemonic elements are found in the group in charge of the surveillance power, since they hold a disproportionate degree of power, outside of public control or even oversight. Surveillance is a highly secretive matter, whether it is public or private in origin. Taking digital surveillance into account, this power dynamic even extends to those who hold the technology necessary, over those who do not. This may refer to rich countries and their respective intelligence communities or to rich, multi-national companies over small and local shops.

The notion of counter-hegemony in the context of surveillance can be assigned to any one effort to break this power relation. This may occur through civil rights movements, investigative journalism or political activism. Notably, in this context it is a minority fighting against another minority, but they are separated by the aforementioned significant power imbalances.

The reason, why CDA is appropriate for this thesis, is rooted in the imbalanced nature of bias. Considering bias as an inclination or prejudice for or against one person or group, especially in a way considered to be unfair on a systemic level, the hegemonic and counter hegemonic notions are found in bias as an effect or a tool for either. This means when viewing bias through the lens of a CDA, it ultimately ends up being an inherent part of hegemonic relations as either a result stemming from or a deliberate tool within them.

4 Analysis

A CDA builds upon the notion of hegemony and counter-hegemony. This next section of the thesis is going to focus on how this notion is expressed in the discourse. The intention is to show, how the hegemonic structure surrounding surveillance activities are reinforced or challenged by the discourse. I will also look into the kind of hegemonic bloc that is constructed within the media discussion and how the relation of power actors is portrayed. This section is also going to address how the naturalization of surveillance in the public sphere relates to inherent biases in digital surveillance. Furthermore, I am going too look into how these different kinds of biases and their perceived notion reinforce or counter the hegemonic surveillance structures.

4.1 (Digital) Surveillance – Or: The Surveyors' hold over Society

Surveillance is almost entirely synonymous with digital surveillance. 158 out of 190 articles view surveillance exclusively through the lens of technology, whereas the remaining 32 implicitly relate surveillance to digital means by not explicitly mentioning technology being used, but refer to digital surveillance activity. For example this can refer to technology being utilized as a comprehensive tool to directly assist law enforcement such as facial recognition or to large-scale data-analysis schemes. Surveillance is implicitly linked to digital tools of data collection and analysis. 'Digital surveillance' is rarely used as a phrase and not discussed separately from surveillance at all. For the purpose of this analysis the two phrases are going to be used interchangeably as well.

Surveillance as an expression of oppressive power, which originates from the works of Bentham and Foucault, is a common theme in the dataset. Out of the 190 articles and opinion pieces 160 explicitly discuss surveillance in the context of this power exercise. The oppressive nature of surveillance can be found in the media discourse in quotes like this:

"More and more, violent uses of [surveillance] technology push policing beyond actual borders demarcations and reinforce border militarization. These policies have resulted in growing discrimination, brutal mistreatment and even death along borders: dangerous pushbacks to Libya, drownings in the Mediterranean, cruel detention and separation of children from their families at the US-Mexico border."

(Molnar, 2020)

It is emblematic of the broader discourse in the sense that it unites a multitude of aspects. For one it includes surveillance as a tool (expression) to give a public power actor (e.g. border police) opportunities to oppress a minority group (in this case refugees). Within the media discourse the role of surveillance technology appears to be that of an assisting tool in order for the hegemon (surveyor) to support and reinforce their power as well as paving the way for oppressive activities. The oppression here is then expressed by the discussion of force and violence against minorities. Digital surveillance in this context is a tool of oppressive power.

However, digital surveillance can be more than a mere tool to enable oppression. It can also be utilized directly as an exercise of force.

New surveillance technologies have made these attacks so pervasive that not only prominent journalists but many other public figures and private citizens are now living with the fear of their data being stolen and shared online to damage their reputations and careers.

(Guesmi, 2021)

The invasion of privacy can be a measure in and on itself in order to frighten and intimidate groups or individuals in opposition to the hegemon. Framing like this is can be found in 157 articles. It is equally as

common as surveillance as a supporting role. In the discourse digital surveillance is both a tool to achieve and enable oppression and the exercise of oppressive power itself.

More than that it can be asserted that this form oppression is hegemonic in nature, because of the power holders behind it. Following the Gramscian notion of hegemony and counter-hegemony I will build the case of how the discourse revolves around how surveillance is naturalized as a hegemonic activity, how it is portrayed in public and private surveillance, and the role of technology within it.

The aspect of public and private surveillance is not necessarily discussed in a pure dichotomy. Out of the total 190 articles, 150 discuss state/public surveillance directly, while 69 discuss surveillance in the context of private actors, which means that there has to be an overlap and the discussion is not merely binary between either public or private surveillance.

The distinction between public and private surveillance is made via the actors who conduct it, regardless whether it aims at some state-sponsored/public goal or follows a profit motive. This stems from increasingly popular Public-Private-Partnerships. Building on this, there are two major types of surveillance discussed in the data set: public surveillance and private surveillance. But there is a prominent hybrid sub-type: private surveillance for a public actor.

When it comes to actors, who engage in public surveillance the discourse heavily focuses on the executive branch of government. A total of 111 documents lay emphasis on surveillance conducted by intelligence agencies, police, other law enforcement agencies. Hereby, police surveillance specifically, is the most common expression in the dataset. This is often done by illustrating how police forces or departments start to employ certain digital surveillance tools.

Plymouth's Police Department was recently pitched on a facial recognition technology by a Cambridge startup that sells surveillance tools to law enforcement. Suspect Technologies cofounder Jacob Sniff had proposed that Plymouth police install cameras with facial recognition capabilities in public buildings around town, and suggested the department could tap into a statewide database of driver's license photos, according to e-mails the ACLU obtained through public records requests.

(Rosen, 2019)

This quote is emblematic on how the discussion centers around police surveillance and their tools. It refers to a specific police department implementing novel surveillance technology in order to aid in police activities. While this quote can be found in one way or another in the documents, which discuss police surveillance, there usually is an aspect of concerns regarding privacy, bias or misconduct. Technology here is seen as a tool to facilitate and reinforce the hegemonic power stance of the police.

Private surveillance on the other hand, heavily focuses on specific companies. In 69 articles the main company mentioned is Amazon, but Microsoft, Google, Facebook and IBM are also constantly featured in the articles, often in the same or a similar context.

Over the course of four days last week, three of America's largest technology companies — IBM, Amazon and Microsoft — announced sweeping restrictions on their sale of facial recognition tools and called for federal regulation amid protests across the United States against police violence and racial profiling.

(Solon, 2020)

This quote resembles how private surveillance often is discussed in the sense of a cooperation between private companies and government entities. For the discourse the framing is such that the companies develop algorithms in surveillance, which in turn are widely used by public actors. With this framing, private companies do not exercise power directly, but rather participate in oppressive power structures of surveillance, by contributing the tools necessary. However, the above quote represents an irregularity in the

broader discussion. The article in question presents the companies as attempting to limit public power, but it does not in any means resemble an exception to the broader discourse on Public-Private-Partnerships around surveillance. Implicitly this article recognizes the power of these companies to influence public policy, not by conducting surveillance activities, but by preventing public actors from the very same. The hegemonic power of these private companies stems from them holding an oligopoly on the surveillance technology. They create, scale up and commercialize the algorithms and host their infrastructure.

The Public-Private-Partnerships also represent a convergence of companies and public institutions and although there is mention of tension within the discourse, the perception of the media outlets increasingly frames both sectors as one hegemonic bloc. This bloc emerges in the context of the private entities providing the infrastructure and the public actors applying it. Together they contribute to the oppressive power structures.

The oligopilic organization of many of the major tech-companies and the state monopoly on force and coercive force, appear to be discussed largely in a symbiotic relation. The irregular quote by Solon (2020) could lead to conclude a counter-hegemonic movement by these private actors in order to break state hegemony. But this particular construction contradicts this premise. The actual counter-hegemonic action stems from " [...] protests [..] against police violence and racial profiling", rather than corporate activity. Apart from a few minor exceptions, like this quote, the discussion disregards counter-hegemonic action all-together and rather constructs the public-private hegemonic-bloc in digital surveillance.

Curiously, there are barely any mentions of companies engaging in for profit marketing and advertising. Only 6 documents discuss private surveillance in the context of what is most commonly know as "surveillance capitalism". More common however, is the discussion of surveillance algorithms in the context of work. This can refer to employee monitoring in the office or at home, the application process and applicant selection, or performance evaluation.

Many companies in the US and Europe now appear — controversially — to want to try, spurred on by the enormous shifts in working habits during the pandemic, in which countless office jobs moved home and seem set to either stay there or become hybrid. This is colliding with another trend among employers towards the quantification of work — whether physical or digital — in the hope of driving efficiency. "The rise of monitoring software is one of the untold stories of the Covid pandemic," says Andrew Pakes, deputy general secretary of Prospect, a UK labor union.

(Corbyn, 2022)

This quote unites several elements of the discussion on private surveillance in the workplace. It refers to an increase in digital tools (in this cased fueled by the Covid-19 measures), being used to monitor employees, performance evaluation as a form of surveillance, and using digital surveillance as a means to boost efficiency.

This however, resembles only a small part of private surveillance in the dataset. The vast majority of articles and opinion pieces discuss digital surveillance in the context of algorithms and programs, created by private companies and used by public entities, to spy on the general public. Rather than focussing on the hegemony of private companies over the tech-sector, for digital surveillance the public-private hegemon emerges as prominent.

The role of facial recognition software

The status of technology in this discussion has been well established. Particularly surprising, was the importance and emphasis the news outlets put on facial recognition technology (FRT). Whether used by private companies for application process or by law enforcement to engage in predictive policing, facial recognition algorithms are ever present in many articles. They are usually used to create an accessible point of entry to explain how biases in algorithms occur and how they pose a problem regarding power exercise. In

42 documents, the outlets tend to explain the risks of surveillance and the possible and actual negative impacts FRT can have.

4.1.1 What does surveillance mean?

It is important to understand, how surveillance and surveyors are constructed. This aids in creating a baseline for the case of biases in these hegemonic surveillance structure. The biases that are present in the discourse are all rooted in these hegemonic blocs.

Furthermore, any counter-hegemonic action in this field is largely disregarded. This last point is crucial to understand, how the discourse is constructed around bias.

To answer part of my second sub-question (SQ2 What meanings are attributed to bias and surveillance that are dominant in media coverage?), surveillance means almost exclusively digital surveillance for the media outlets. The digital structures necessary to conduct this surveillance are under oligopolic control of specific private companies. These companies create and host digital structures and provide them to public/state actors, which then in turn engage in the actual surveying. Together they are constructed as one hegemonic bloc. In a sense surveillance here is constructed as the ever closer merger of the public and private sector, with little to none counter-hegemonic elements present.

Since within the discourse surveillance is viewed as at least a tool to aid the oppression of minorities, biases directed towards them almost seem a natural part of it. In the following this premise will be explored in detail.

4.2 Biases and how they shape the Hegemon

4.2.1 Material and Formal Biases

For the purpose of this part of the analysis, I am going to refer to material and formal biases. Material bias is directed towards a certain group (e.g gender or racial bias), while formal biases refer to the technical conditions and the environment under which they can occur (e.g. algorithmic or systemic bias).

4.2.2 Material biases and the exclusion of people of color

Biases are not necessarily a matter of hegemony, but they are closely related to one group of power holders. This groups exercises oppressive power over a disadvantaged minority, which shows parallels to surveillance. Like surveillance activities, biases are directed against a certain group, by a few power-holders, which may be a hegemonic bloc. In particular biases in the context of digital surveillance are a trope of the hegemon, because of the ownership structures of technology and the hegemonic nature of surveillance. The following section is going to dissect how this relation is constructed and perceived in the media discussion.

Out of the 190 articles and opinion pieces 168 directly reference some kind of bias. This means that they directly approached biases that are rooted in surveillance, affect surveillance or tools and institutions that entail them.

Notably 'racial bias' is by far the most common notion of material bias and bias overall. Regardless of which aspect of surveillance a specific document focuses on, the notion of biases against ethnicities appears to be central. 92 of the articles and opinion pieces are directly referencing instances of racism, racial bias, or discrimination within surveillance related activities. The activities do not necessarily have to be state or police related, but also are within private surveillance action, such as prior screening of potential employees in the recruiting process of a company (e.g. Huet & Bergen, 2018). For this notion of bias in particular, these news outlets construct it almost exclusively within the context of skin color – and this almost exclusively in

the context of black skin color. At this point it needs to be emphasized that the news outlets are English-speaking in nature, and in many cases US news outlets. Whether this may suggest a relation between this particular aspect of bias in surveillance and country of origin of the outlets needs to be explored further.

In the articles 'racial bias' is strongly related to technology. 82 out of the 92 texts are referencing 'racial bias' through a technological lens, for example facial recognition algorithms in law enforcement (Boston Globe, 2019). This suggests that in the current media discussion on surveillance related biases, there is a strong link between them and technology. Additionally in 72 articles, the use of biased technology is explicitly linked to its use by a power holder. Most commonly this illustration is done by pointing at biased police surveillance activity, with over half of these documents using them as an example.

"Biased facial recognition technology is particularly problematic in law enforcement because errors could lead to false accusations and arrests. The new federal study found that the kind of facial matching algorithms used in law enforcement had the highest error rates for African American females."

(Singer & Metz, 2019)

This quote is symbolic of how the majority of discourse around racial bias in digital surveillance is constructed. It naturalizes biases as inherent to technology, by implicating them in one expression, it refers to executive-branch power actors (law enforcement), further showcasing the strong link of police and surveillance, it uses facial recognition tools as a means of illustration and it refers to ethnicity/race as the affected and disadvantaged group.

This results in an explicit discourse on surveillance as an execution of oppressive power via digital tools, which have one: inherent biases that transfer onto mostly executive branch power actors (law enforcement); and two: engage in this oppression much to the disadvantage of predominately black minorities. In the context of digital surveillance, racial bias means algorithmic bias applied to day to day law enforcement activity, which in turn creates an environment highly unjust to POCs.

Biases based on race in this context aid in the construction the hegemonic bloc in a very specific way. If a group is surveyed, it is outside of the hegemonic bloc. The notion of racial bias (and specifically prejudice against POCs) specifically excludes POCs from the hegemonic bloc.

The second most common material notion of bias is 'gender bias'. 'Most common' is a misleading phrase though. The topic of gender bias is being touched upon explicitly in only 10 articles out of 190. 'Gender bias' is expressed for one by recognizing that in both algorithms and society at large men tend to be more privileged than other genders. It also is heavily rooted in the algorithmic biases against women and non-binaries. In that context the articles discuss the concept of accuracy as well. This relates to surveillance practices (related to algorithms or not) that favor men over other genders, producing inaccurate results and unfair outcomes.

Notably any document that mentions gender-related biases also discusses racial bias. The reason for this is that gender bias is always discussed in the context of algorithm failures and errors. The central role of facial recognition software comes into play here as well. Because women tend to be recognized by these algorithms with a lower probability than men, and black people are recognized with a lower probability than white people, articles, which aim to illustrate the shortcomings of this surveillance technology, name gender and racial bias side by side:

"But trying to identify a face from a video feed — especially using the ceiling-mounted cameras commonly found in stores — can cause accuracy rates to plunge. Studies have also shown that face recognition systems don't perform equally across race, gender and age — working best on white men and with potentially harmful consequences for others."

```
(CBS Detroit, 2020)
```

Another reoccurring notion is the framing of bias in terms of negative effects on the disadvantaged and affected groups. This quote is overall representative of how gender bias is displayed. Similar to racial bias, the through-line of inherent biases in technology – algorithms in particular – is present in gender bias as well.

Gender related biases are not highlighted in the discourse at all. They are used in conjunction with other material biases. In terms of the construction of the hegemonic bloc, gender is not necessarily a factor of exclusion from it, due to its relatively small part. Gender biases are somewhat used to support and reinforce the already established position of racial biases in relation to the hegemon surveyor.

LGBTQ+ bias, likewise makes up a small part of the articles with a total of only 7. It is predominately discussed in the context of students and their sexual orientation and gender identity. The link to digital surveillance is established via educational facilities attempting to categorize students through algorithmic surveillance. It is also discussed in the context of privacy invasion and usually framed in limiting LGBTQ+ students from expressing themselves (Keierleber, 2022). The factor of oppression is discussed in a great number of nuances. For example the articles bring up the point of forcefully outing LGBTQ+ students to both parents and teachers as problematic, or misidentification of gender by algorithms, etc. Noteworthy there is no overlap of gender bias and LGBTQ+ bias. No article, that discusses one, discusses the other. They are treated as distinct.

Ultimately however the LGBTQ+ community is excluded from the hegemon surveyors as well, due to how the biases are constructed.

4.2.3 Formal biases and the independent 'racist robots'

The category of formal biases refers to the technical framework of how biases permeate into surveillance in a sense it is about the logistics of bias. The close link to technology, leaves 'Algorithmic bias' as the most common notion of formal biases. It is discussed in 40 documents. In addition to this, there are 91 articles, which implicitly link biases to surveillance technologies. Explicit discussion of algorithmic bias can among others be found as "standalone" statements.

There is, for instance, the issue of bias. Because algorithms and other forms of software are trained using data from human societies, they often replicate the biases and attitudes of those societies.

```
(Malik, 2022)
```

This quote is standalone in the sense that it does not necessarily rely on specific examples or cases to illustrate algorithmic bias. It rather makes the claim of algorithms replicating human or societal biases. This broad notion does not rely on pointing out any of the material biases mentioned above. When articles explicitly discuss algorithmic bias like this, they may use specific material biases as example, but crucially the claim of prejudice in algorithms can be decoupled from the material level.

When algorithmic bias is discussed implicitly, the argument made in the article has to be linked to a certain material bias. This does not mean, the article does not mention algorithmic bias as a concept, but it is viewed through the lens of specific material bias.

Last year, the National Institute of Standards and Technology tested 189 algorithms from 99 developers and found that black and Asian faces were ten to 100 times more likely to be falsely identified by the algorithms compared to white faces. Black women were even more likely to be misidentified when algorithms are required to match a particular photo to another of the same face in a database.

(Ng, 2020)

In this example, there is mention of the effect and the environment of where – in this case racial – bias occurs, but it is not mentioned as an explicit algorithmic bias. There appears to be an implicit understanding within the media outlets that one cannot separate algorithm from bias (Shin et al., 2022; Zhai & Krajcik, 2022). However, this understanding is not comprehensive. Though, the formal biases are linked to some material ones, it is a narrow and limited link. This is best illustrated by the title of a 'The Independent' article: "How racist robots are being used in recruitment" (Asher-Schapiro, 2021).

With this title, there are a few things emblematic of the broader discussion of the intersection of formal (mainly algorithmic) and material biases. First, there is recognition that technology is inherently biased ("racist robots"). However there is no nuance to this recognition. In the broader discourse, there appears to be little analysis of how the robots became racist in the first place. It is a recurring theme that technologies, which produce bias or discriminatory outputs, are being portrayed as their own entity. That entity is then attributed with being biased. As a phenomenon this resembles Bunge's notion of technology as applied science (Bunge, 1966), which – in rather simplified terms – entails the decoupling of technological- from societal-development, rendering the content of technology, the way it is created and its outputs as independent from society. Although there is plenty of criticism of this notion to be applied universally, the discourse portrays an implicated understanding that is influenced by the notion within the media outlets.

Second technology is often misrepresented ('robots'). In this case the use of robots is an extreme example, since it triggers images of science fiction related robots or automatic arms by a factory line and is most likely a rhetorical exaggeration. It is an outlier among a lot of semantic confusion in the dataset. This confusion is usually expressed by mixing the terminologies for algorithm and artificial intelligence or similarly 'machine learning'. They are frequently used interchangeably in the broader discussion, without explaining the core differences. Although the terms are closely related, there are important distinction.

Both of these factors make it difficult to explore the roots of biases in digital surveillance. If there is confusion in terminology a proper examination of when prejudice occurs (whether dataset, programming phase, etc.) may follow the same inaccuracies, or not take into account the differences in the inner workings of algorithms at large and the more narrow AIs. If technology is viewed as an independent entity, actively working to mitigate biases can face barriers and misguided action. This is prone to only treating them in the context of its symptoms rather than tackling the root causes.

In relation to public and private surveillance the articles and opinion pieces entail mentions of a variety of private companies that either manufacture various algorithms or utilize them on a grand scale, such as Amazon, Microsoft or IBM. More than half of the articles on private surveillacne (65/91) link algorithmic bias and Public-Private-Partnerships. Bias appears to be – at least in part – private. Crucially however, the intersection of bias and private surveillance, rarely revolves around societal root causes. Rather, certain companies are singled out, because a product they developed was discovered to be a 'racist robot'. This interpretation of algorithmic bias, makes the technology out to be decoupled from societal influences. It is a company's algorithm that showed signs of racism and not the algorithm being an expression of larger underlying systemic issues in society.

The trend of technology and its biases constructed as an externality to societal development can be made clear by analyzing the case of facial recognition technology (FRT). FRT is singled out as a case example through which algorithmic bias is discussed. Several articles view the shortcomings of facial recognition and its inherent racial and gender bias as grounds to point to problems with algorithmic surveillance. The

example of FRT is used in 42 documents overall, all of which link it to being biased. It serves as an example that usually recognizes white and cis male faces the best, but is increasingly flawed when it comes to other humans.

"Amazon has at times rebuked civil-rights concerns, despite research showing that facial-recognition systems tend to misidentify people of color and women at higher rates than white people and men. In one study, Asian American and Black people were up to 100 times more likely to be misidentified than white men, and Native Americans had the highest false-positive rate of all ethnicities. Microsoft had no existing facialrecognition contracts with local police departments in the United States, but claims in its own materials to be a leader in the facial-recognition industry."

(Devich-Cyril, 2020)

Hinting at the inherent biases of only one specific piece of surveillance technology, glances over the causes and roots of why theses biases are there in the first place. There is a recognition that prejudice is a factor in digital surveillance, but the discussion tends to focus more on the symptoms rather than the cause.

In terms of the power actors that engage in surveillance in such a way, this means that there is no challenge to them, no counter-hegemonic action. A discourse such as this reinforces existing structures. This happens for two main reasons. First, power actors get absolved of their duty to reform structures by the notion of technology being detached from societal progress. The focus on symptoms over causes, encourages these actors not to reform. Accommodating for a less biased culture is not necessary, when the decision to exchange one surveillance tool, which has received a negative public reputation for another that has not, is viewed as sufficient to counter biases.

The second reason is that the strong entanglement of public and private entities helps of diverting attention away from the structural roots of bias. When it is Google's algorithm that produced biases outputs, all a state agency has to do, is switch to IBM's. In a sense bias becomes a property of a specific company, which can be eliminated by using its competition until that algorithm produces biases outputs and so on. This trait of the discourse reinforces not just hegemonic structures of the surveyor as a power actor, but specifically the state as a surveillance hegemon. It has the ability to change the provider of an algorithm, if it does not suit certain needs without ever making structural changes. The state agency is supposed to use its existing structures to license a new algorithm.

Even for the articles that actually hint at an underlying systemic issue (which is only occurring in 8) the focus tends to be on a systematic occurrence of symptoms, rather than causes:

"This is a classic example of A.I. bias," said Ms. Whittaker, who also works at Google. "It's almost never white men who are discriminated against by the selt systems. They replicate historical marginalization."

(Tugend, 2019)

The phrase "They replicate historical marginalization" focuses on the output and impact of a biased decision by artificial intelligence. Though it recognizes that marginalization is a historic problem and a part of modern algorithms, the article at large fails to address why the historic marginalizations have prevailed and continue to be present in AI. Notably in this context biases are often discussed via the shortcomings of this technology and view it as unintended (71 articles). This view plays into the framing of surveillance technology as an independent entity. Framing bias as unintended, directs the discourse towards it merely being a byproduct of technology. It also takes away responsibility to change the system from which that algorithm emerged. In turn it further reinforces existing structures and therefore their hegemonic nature. This in particular is a standing against counter-hegemonic initiative. The construction of technology inherently does not call for comprehensive reform of the hegemonic structures. It even discourages initiative by taking the necessity to reform (biased structures) out of the discourse.

There is however an exception to the entire discourse. Political bias stands out of this. It is discussed in 22 articles and heavily focuses on misconduct by state entities. This can either refer to the police showing certain biases on the political left-right scale in investigations to judges leaning one or the other in court decisions. With this specific type of bias the discourse tends to revolve around calls for institutional changes to avoid them in the future. This can be viewed as somewhat counter-hegemonic, because there are cases to break up existing systems for the benefit of less biased ones. However, the counter-hegemonic tropes are not all-encompassing at all. This is best illustrated with the role the investigation in to the 2015/2016 Donald Trump campaign to become US-presidents in the 2016 US-elections. 10 articles focus on reporting of this investigate, they do so in favor of an already established part of the hegemonic power (Donald Trump). They only aim at menial changes within the hegemon and to replace one style of power exercise for another. Its a critique of power but in no means counter-hegemonic.

4.3 The notion and meaning of biases – a construction of the Hegemon

Following the theme of my first sub-question (What is the predominant notion of bias in the articles and how does it relate to the theoretical framework?), the predominant notion of bias in this discourse appears to be of bias as a phenomenon of technology. It is predominately regarded in the context of "racist robots". This formal algorithmic bias is present in every part of surveillance technology. The discourse subscribes to the notion that technology cannot escape a certain bias (Zhai & Krajcik, 2022). But crucially the understanding of that notion and its analysis fall short of investigating the societal roots of that phenomenon. How these biases emerge, or the vastly different ways in which any bias can find its way into technology, which are discussed in the theory part of this thesis, are disregarded in the articles for the most part. The nuance of the scientific discourse around how bias occurs in technological applications is largely lost to the media outlets. Similarly the various material biases that can occur in algorithms, are not treated as equal. There is a heavy focus on racism in technology, in particular with facial recognition, but material biases such as misogyny, homophobia or transphobia, barely find their way into it.

To answer the fist part of the second sub-question (What meanings are attributed to bias and surveillance that are dominant in media coverage?), bias here means for state actors to unfairly disadvantages minorities in surveillance both on the level of selecting surveillance targets as well the consequences for them. It is part of the oppressive nature of digital surveillance. Bias can even be regarded as an expression of that oppression. Furthermore since biases are discussed in a technological sense and technology is discussed as independent from society, biases can also be mitigated with technical solutions. Bias is discussed as a symptom of technology and public and private actors just happen to use it. In a sense biases are formal in nature. The material biases are used to construct a certain kind of hegemonic bloc in surveillance, based on racial concepts, to the disadvantage of POCs.

5 Conclusion

5.1 How is bias discussed?

The construction of biases in digital surveillance aids with creating a very specific kind of hegemonic bloc, while simultaneously absolving it of the responsibility to do anything about it. To answer the main research question (*How is bias in digital surveillance discussed in the public discourse, in the context of select English speaking newspapers after Snowden's leaks from 2013 to the current discussion in 2023?*) one has to conclude that formally bias is perceived and displayed as an issue of technology. Algorithms, AI and software overall is illustrated in such a way that it is inherently biased, although the discourse lacks the connection to broader societal roots of biases. Technology appears to be its own entity, which can be decoupled from society and its issues. This biased technology is a tool for surveillance. This means that on a formal level, bias in surveillance is part of a tool, which can be changed. It is effectively discussed as separate from a surveillance regime in the sense that bias is linked to algorithms, which can be changed by surveillance actors, who therefore can mitigate biases in that way. On a material level, bias is most often equated with racism and discriminatory structures against people of color.

In combination that means that the discussion of the hegemonic power structures are viewed to oppress mostly black minorities, are something that can be avoided or rather solved via technological means. Crucially it absolves any and all actors involved of making sustainable systematic changes, since mitigating racism effectively appears to be a matter of switching up the algorithm used. Because of how the ownership and application of such algorithms is framed (application is mostly a public issue, but development is conducted by private actors), bias is inherent to both sectors in the discourse. But importantly not on a structural level.

The link of bias to technology and by extension to digital surveillance that has been presented by various scholars, is well represented in the media discourse (e.g. Minocher & Randall, 2020; Shin et al., 2022; Vagle, 2016). It is also portrayed in a conscious matter, indicating that the outlets are fully aware of that link. Regarding hegemony and bias however, the conscious representation does not seem to be a red line. Bias as expression of hegemonic power (Hughes, 2013) exists implicitly, but there appears to be no awareness of how the outlets construct the Hegemon and its relation to the surveyed.

5.2 Discussion, limits and what to do now

This research however has its limits. For one the dataset itself is limited. Information from a total of 190 articles and opinion pieces is not necessarily representative of the discourse at large. It can indicate tendencies and trends of the broader discussion and – as a qualitative thesis – provide guidelines, but a broader quantitative study of bias in digital surveillance in the media discourse, may provide more comprehensive insights on this topic. Furthermore the news outlets of the dataset are mostly US-based and all of them are English-speaking. The language was chosen deliberately, partly due to limitations of the researcher, partly due to the international character of the English language. Similar studies in other languages may provide interesting insights, particularly on the notion of racial biases.

The research method similarly has its limitations. A Critical Discourse Analysis is a good tool to find overt and underlying hegemonic power structures and relations, which makes it well suited for a discourse around a topic with strong power imbalances. But it is limited to discussions about hegemonic power exclusively. Where it lacks is the analysis of Eurocentric or Amercian-centric perspectives in the discourse, historical path dependencies or cultural nuances. Since many of the big tech-companies and a big part of the world's most advanced intelligence communities is US-based, conducting an analysis into this could yield interesting results. A good tool to provide this perspective may be a Cultural Discourse Analysis. In addition to this, the method lacks in providing context to the dataset. For example, while the topic at hand and the findings are

not severely affected by it, giving context about ownership, ideological direction or political affiliations of the media outlets may create a more comprehensive picture and provide opportunity to analyze implications for hegemonic structures. The reason why it does not affect the findings, is because the analysis focused on the underlying discussions of hegemony within this context, regardless of what this context is. However, in order to build on this thesis and to understand the findings better, it is important to contextualize the sources on a broad societal scale. Lastly there are limitations related to the researcher. As a white Western-European man, any discussion surrounding bias that I could analyze is likely to contain biases shaped by my cultural and historical context, as well as my material conditions. There are probably certain things I have overlooked, when creating the coding scheme and perspectives I have not considered. Therefore it would be interesting to conduct a similar study from a non-eurocentric, non-male perspective.

Nevertheless this thesis has provided somewhat of a bridge between digital surveillance and bias. Due to the size of the knowledge gap, this thesis does not so much fill it, but rather provide a baseline from which more specified studies could derive. How biases in surveillance are perceived is still largely unexplored and similar studies to this thesis can be conducted in different contexts with different social contexts, different languages or different historical eras.

As suggested above, future research could also apply different lenses to how bias in digital surveillance is perceived. A Cultural Discourse Analysis, interviews with journalists or surveillance experts, as well as the general public, or various quantitative studies, could all expand on our understanding of biases in digital surveillance.

Furthermore future research may also only focus on very specific aspects of the parts this thesis is made of. This may be deeper analyses of surveillance tools, philosophies and practices or the nuances of bias discourse or the discourse on the impact bias in surveillance can have. Another topic to research regarding this, is a specific analysis of the changes in the discourse over time. Laying emphasis on how the portraying of biases in digital surveillance has changed over a large period of time may give insights on not only surveillance perception but also of the role technology plays.

5.3 Practical implications and closing remarks

When it comes to practical implications, this thesis may offer a point of self-reflection for journalists, who report on surveillance or on different biases. Specifically when it comes the issue of the natural perception of biases in technology as independent (to a degree) from biases in society. This thesis is not a guideline on how to write good journalism in that particular topic or a comprehensive list of things that need to be considered in the discourse. It invites to reconsider the focus, framing and context of the news stories.

In terms of policy implications, it is important to understand how digital surveillance is perceived and naturalized in the media. First advise can be derived for the creation of educational programmesfor digital literacy. Policy-makers and activists likewise should emphasizes creating an understanding for the close alignment of society and technology. Also there may be implications for Intelligence community officials. They should be motivated to fight biases not purely on a technological level, but rather educate their staff and create a culture of recognition about how biases appear in surveillance activity. Similarly this culture could also spark regulation about algorithm development, also for private actors. Studying biases and their impacts on surveillance activities, actors and targets is a highly specific sub-field that still offers a lot of opportunities to explore and research. But with an ever expanding everyday digital surveillance system, it becomes ever more important to gain a comprehensive understanding of it.

Bibliography

- Aradau, C., & Blanke, T. (2021). Algorithmic Surveillance and the Political Life of Error. *Journal for the History of Knowledge*, 2(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.5334/jhk.42
- Asher-Schapiro, A. (2021, June 7). How racist robots are being used in recruitment. *The Independent*. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/americas/robots-racism-algorithms-job-hiring-b1860835.html
- Baker, R., & Hawn, A. (2021). Algorithmic Bias in Education. *International Journal of Artificial Intelligence in Education*, 32, 1052–1092.
- Bellamy, R. K. E., Dey, K., Hind, M., Hoffman, S. C., Houde, S., Kannan, K., Lohia, P. K., Martino, J., Mehta, S., Mojsilovic, A., Nagar, S., Ramamurthy, K. N., Richards, J. T., Saha, D., Sattigeri, P., Singh, M., Varshney, K. R., & Zhang, Y. (2018). AI Fairness 360: An Extensible Toolkit for Detecting, Understanding, and Mitigating Unwanted Algorithmic Bias. *ArXiv*, *abs/1810.01943*.
- Bigo, D. (2017). Digital surveillance and everyday democracy. In L. Weber, E. Fishwick, & M. Marmo (Eds.), *The Routledge international handbook of criminology and human rights*. Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Boston Globe. (2019, September 30). Algorithms will not solve criminal justice inequities. *Boston Globe*. https://www.bostonglobe.com/opinion/letters/2019/09/29/algorithms-will-not-solve-criminal-justice-inequities/Eyyb4IWektnMykCRcMY09I/story.html?p1=BGSearch Advanced Results
- Bunge, M. (1966). Science as Applied Science. Technology & Culture, 329-347.
- CBS Detroit. (2020, June 24). Detroit Police Challenged Over Face Recognition Flaws, Bias—CBS Detroit. *CBS*. https://www.cbsnews.com/detroit/news/detroit-police-challenged-over-face-recognition-flaws-bias/? intcid=CNM-00-10abd1h
- Corbyn, Z. (2022, April 27). 'Bossware is coming for almost every worker': The software you might not realize is watching you. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2022/apr/27/remote-work-software-home-surveillance-computer-monitoring-pandemic
- Dastin, J. (2018, October 11). Amazon scraps secret AI recruiting tool that showed bias against women. *Reuters*. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-amazon-com-jobs-automation-insight-idUSKCN1MK08G
- Devich-Cyril, M. (2020, July 5). Defund Facial Recognition. *The Atlantic*. https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2020/07/defund-facial-recognition/613771/
- Drozdowski, P., Rathgeb, C., Dantcheva, A., Damer, N., & Busch, C. (2020). Demographic Bias in Biometrics: A Survey on an Emerging Challenge. *IEEE Transactions on Technology and Society*, *1*, 89–103.
- Ferguson, A. (2020, June 12). High-tech surveillance amplifies police bias and overreach. *The Conversation*. https://theconversation.com/high-tech-surveillance-amplifies-police-bias-and-overreach-140225
- Fitzgerald, S. (2022). COVID-19 and the international baccalaureate: A computer-assisted discourse analysis of# ibscandal. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, 1–20.
- Fontes, C., Hohma, E., Corrigan, C. C., & Lütge, C. (2022). AI-powered public surveillance systems: Why we (might) need them and how we want them. *Technology in Society*, 71, 102137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2022.102137
- Foucault, M. (1977). Discipline and punish: The birth of the prison (1st American ed). Pantheon Books.
- Giovanola, B., & Tiribelli, S. (2022). Beyond bias and discrimination: Redefining the AI ethics principle of fairness in healthcare machine-learning algorithms. *AI & SOCIETY*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00146-022-01455-6
- Given, L. (2008). *The SAGE Encyclopedia of Qualitative Research Methods*. SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412963909
- Guesmi, H. (2021, October 6). Israeli surveillance and the end of politics as we know it. *Al Jazeera*. https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2021/10/6/israeli-surveillance-and-the-end-of-politics-as-we-know-it
- Hamborg, F., Meuschke, N., Breitinger, C., & Gipp, B. (2017). news-please: A Generic News Crawler and Extractor.

 *Proceedings of the 15th International Symposium of Information Science, 218–223. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.4120316
- Harding, X. (2022, February 11). *Breaking Bias: How Algorithmic Racism Goes Unaddressed*. Mozilla Foundation. https://foundation.mozilla.org/en/blog/breaking-bias-how-algorithmic-racism-goes-unaddressed/
- Harwell, D. (2020, April 30). Managers turn to surveillance software, always-on webcams to ensure employees are (really) working from home. *The Washington Post*. https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2020/04/30/work-from-home-surveillance/

- Hermansyah, M., Najib, A., Farida, A., Sacipto, R., & Rintyarna, B. S. (2023). Artificial Intelligence and Ethics: Building an Artificial Intelligence System that Ensures Privacy and Social Justice. *International Journal of Science and Society*.
- Huet, E., & Bergen, M. (2018, March 1). Google sued by ex-recruiter alleging anti-white, Asian bias. *Chron.* https://www.chron.com/techburger/article/Google-Sued-by-Ex-Recruiter-Over-Alleged-12722436.php
- Hughes, G. (2013). Racial Justice, Hegemony, and Bias Incidents in U.S. Higher Education. *Multicultural Perspectives*, 15(3), 126–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/15210960.2013.809301
- Janowicz, K., Yan, B., Regalia, B., Zhu, R., & Mai, G. (2018). Debiasing Knowledge Graphs: Why Female Presidents are not like Female Popes. *International Workshop on the Semantic Web*.
- Keierleber, M. (2022, September 30). The Trevor Project teams up with a student surveillance company accused of LGBTQ+ bias. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/education/2022/sep/30/trevor-project-gaggle-student-surveillance-lgbtq-bias
- Klovig Skelton, S. (2019, September 16). Police use of algorithms needs stronger safeguards to prevent bias, report says. *ComputerWeekly.Com*. https://www.computerweekly.com/news/252470727/Police-use-of-algorithms-needs-stronger-safeguards-to-prevent-bias-report-says
- Leslie, D. (2020). Understanding bias in facial recognition technologies. ArXiv, abs/2010.07023.
- Malik, K. (2022, June 19). Forget sentience... the worry is that AI copies human bias. *The Observer*. https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2022/jun/19/forget-sentience-the-worry-is-that-ai-copies-human-bias
- McCallum, S. (2023, April 1). ChatGPT banned in Italy over privacy concerns. BBC.
- Minocher, X., & Randall, C. (2020). Predictable policing: New technology, old bias, and future resistance in big data surveillance. *Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies*, 26(5–6), Article 5–6. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354856520933838
- Molnar, E. T. A., Sarah Chander, Petra. (2020, November 23). Technology is the new border enforcer, and it discriminates. *Al Jazeera*. https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2020/11/23/technology-is-the-new-border-enforcer-and-it-discriminates
- Morse, J. (2020, November 4). People are fighting algorithms for a more just and equitable future. You can, too. Mashable. https://mashable.com/article/police-facial-recognition-algorithms-activism
- Ng, K. (2020, June 11). Amazon bans police use of facial recognition over racial bias fears. *The Independent*. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/americas/amazon-police-facial-recognition-ban-racism-a9560016.html
- Paperboy Online Newspapers | US & World Newspapers. (n.d.). Retrieved 10 June 2023, from https://www.thepaperboy.com/
- Park, Y. J. (2021a). Structural Logic of AI Surveillance and Its Normalisation in the Public Sphere. *Javnost The Public*, 28(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1080/13183222.2021.1955323
- Park, Y. J. (2021b). The future of digital surveillance: Why digital monitoring will never lose its appeal in a world of algorithm-driven AI. University of Michigan Press.
- Park, Y. J., & Jones-Jang, S. M. (2022). Surveillance, security, and AI as technological acceptance. *AI & SOCIETY*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00146-021-01331-9
- Perez-Des Rosiers, D. (2021). AI Application in Surveillance for Public Safety: Adverse Risks for Contemporary Societies. In T. Keskin & R. D. Kiggins (Eds.), *Towards an International Political Economy of Artificial Intelligence* (pp. 113–143). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-74420-5 6
- Rosen, R. (2019, May 10). Somerville moves to ban facial recognition surveillance. *Boston Globe*. https://www.bostonglobe.com/metro/2019/05/10/somerville-moves-ban-facial-recognition-surveillance/ebhl0qcX6k14O1H78yrpiI/story.html?p1=BGSearch_Advanced_Results
- Saheb, T. (2022). "Ethically contentious aspects of artificial intelligence surveillance: A social science perspective". *AI and Ethics*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43681-022-00196-y
- Saldaña, J. (2016). The coding manual for qualitative researchers (3E [Third edition]). SAGE.
- Shin, D., Hameleers, M., Park, Y. J., Kim, J. N., Trielli, D., Diakopoulos, N., Helberger, N., Lewis, S. C., Westlund, O., & Baumann, S. (2022). Countering Algorithmic Bias and Disinformation and Effectively Harnessing the Power of AI in Media. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 99(4), 887–907. https://doi.org/10.1177/10776990221129245
- Simlai, T., & Sandbrook, C. (2021). Digital surveillance technologies in conservation and their social implications. In T. Simlai & C. Sandbrook, *Conservation Technology* (pp. 239–254). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198850243.003.0012

- Singer, N., & Metz, C. (2019, December 19). Many Facial-Recognition Systems Are Biased, Says U.S. Study. *New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/12/19/technology/facial-recognition-bias.html?searchResultPosition=18
- Solon, O. (2020, June 22). Big Tech juggles ethical pledges on facial recognition with corporate interests. *NBC News*. https://www.nbcnews.com/tech/security/big-tech-juggles-ethical-pledges-facial-recognition-corporate-interests-n1231778
- Tiainen, M. (2017). (De)legitimating electronic surveillance: A critical discourse analysis of the Finnish news coverage of the Edward Snowden revelations. *Critical Discourse Studies*, 14(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405904.2017.1320296
- Tilmes, N. (2022). Disability, fairness, and algorithmic bias in AI recruitment. Ethics and Information Technology, 24.
- Tiwari, R. (2023). Ethical And Societal Implications of AI and Machine Learning. *INTERANTIONAL JOURNAL OF SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH IN ENGINEERING AND MANAGEMENT*.
- Tugend, A. (2019, June 17). Exposing the Bias Embedded in Tech. *New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/06/17/business/artificial-intelligence-bias-tech.html?searchResultPosition=7
- ULB-LOTSE: Zeitungen. (n.d.). Retrieved 10 June 2023, from https://www.ulb.uni-muenster.de/lotse/informiert_bleiben/zeitungen.html
- Vagle, J. (2016). Tightening the OODA Loop: Police Militarization, Race, and Algorithmic Surveillance. *Michigan Journal of Race & Law*, 22.1, 101. https://doi.org/10.36643/mjrl.22.1.tightening
- Venditti, L., Fleming, J. J., & Kugelmeyer, K. (2019). Algorithmic Surveillance: A Hidden Danger in Recognizing Faces.
- Westerlund, M., & Leminen, S. (2021). The Acceptance of Digital Surveillance in an Age of Big Data. *Technology Innovation Management Review*, 11.
- Zhai, X., & Krajcik, J. (2022). *Pseudo AI Bias* (arXiv:2210.08141; Issue arXiv:2210.08141). arXiv. http://arxiv.org/abs/2210.08141

Appendix I: Coding Table

Power/expression of power	law enforcement agencies investigation surveying/active surveillance executive action
Public surveillance	(members of the) intelligence community police surveillance law enforcement crime prevention/smart policing government surveillance government location (e.g. capital)
Private surveillance	company names private surveillance action creation of private algorithms employer work business development
racial bias	police surveillance racism discrimination skin color black racial bias
LGBTQ+ bias	transgender Trevor Project lgbtq+ discrimination gender identity woke
Gender bias	man woman gender sexism misogyny
Algorithmic bias	algorithm bias facial recognition dataset racism discrimination recognition skin color accuracy AI

Appendix II: Newspaper Articles and Opinion Pieces

- Ackerman, S. (2014, July 9). White House: Racial slurs in NSA intelligence material 'unacceptable'. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2014/jul/09/white-house-nsa-racial-slurs-training-material
- Al Jazeera. (2021, July 18). Israeli malware used to 'spy on journalists, activists' worldwide. Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/7/18/malware-targets-journalists-activists-and-lawyers-media-reports
- Al Jazeera. (2022, February 8). What you need to know about Israeli spyware Pegasus. Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/2/8/what-you-need-to-know-about-israeli-spyware-pegasus
- Anderson, M. D. (2016, September 12). Students of Color Are Disproportionately Affected by School Surveillance. The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/09/when-school-feels-like-prison/499556/
- AP. (2019, July 19). Doorbell cams raise privacy fears and concerns about bias. CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/doorbell-cams-raise-privacy-fears-and-concerns-about-bias/
- AP newswire. (2021a, May 5). States push back against use of facial recognition by police. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/states-push-back-against-use-of-facial-recognition-by-police-american-civil-liberties-union-ohio-columbus-amazon-new-york-b1842685.html
- AP newswire. (2021b, September 7). Two decades after 9/11, Muslim Americans still fighting bias. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/american-muslim-americans-new-york-islam-virginia-b1915402.html
- AP newswire. (2022, June 15). Spy agencies' focus on China could snare Chinese Americans. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/asian-americans-ap-china-national-security-agency-ong-b2101295.html
- Asher-Schapiro, A. (2021, June 7). How racist robots are being used in recruitment. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/americas/robots-racism-algorithms-job-hiring-b1860835.html
- Assad, S., Hacker, C., & Savini, D. (2022, February 3). Left in the Dark: The Failed Promise of Chicago Police Body Cameras. CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/chicago/news/left-in-the-dark-the-failed-promise-of-chicago-police-body-cameras/
- Associated Press. (2022, June 15). Spy agencies' focus on China could snare Chinese Americans, report says. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/news/asian-america/spy-agencies-focus-china-snare-chinese-americans-report-says-rcna33756
- Balsamo, M., & Tucker, E. (2019, December 9). FBI showed no political bias in Russia probe, Justice Department report says. Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/news/nation/2019/12/09/report-russia-probe-finds-evidence-political-bias-but-does-issue-critiques/lru4gqhMefuNvqpeaa8LkJ/story.html? p1=BGSearch Advanced Results
- Benner, K. (2020, September 1). Barr Imposes Limits on F.B.I. Surveillance of Political Candidates. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/09/01/us/politics/barr-elections-fbi-surveillance.html?searchResultPosition=4
- Bhuiyan, J. (2021a, November 8). LAPD ended predictive policing programs amid public outcry. A new effort shares many of their flaws. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2021/nov/07/lapd-predictive-policing-surveillance-reform
- Bhuiyan, J. (2021b, December 22). TechScape: Can AI really predict crime? The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2021/dec/22/techscape-lapd-operation-laser
- Bhuiyan, J. (2022, October 4). Surveillance shift: San Francisco pilots program allowing police to live monitor private security cameras. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2022/oct/04/san-francisco-police-video-surveillance
- Blitzer, R. (2020, January 16). McCabe reveals critical flaw in FISA system, denies political bias. Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/politics/mccabe-critical-flaw-in-fisa-system
- Bloomberg News. (2013, November 26). Review of surveillance programs is biased, critics say. Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/news/nation/2013/11/26/concerns-raised-about-group-reviewing-nsa-policies/FWvCBYA4m2FzGaYuA987SN/story.html?p1=BGSearch_Advanced_Results
- Boorstein, M., & Zauzmer, J. (2019, May 5). This Ramadan, security is a heightened concern for US mosques. Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/news/nation/2019/05/05/this-ramadan-security-heightened-concern-for-mosques/oQb6QXlvU5cpHRPsFWBVwJ/story.html?p1=BGSearch Advanced Results
- Boston Celtics Players. (2020, December 16). Governor Baker, regulating facial recognition technology is a racial justice issue. Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/2020/12/16/opinion/governor-baker-regulating-facial-recognition-technology-is-racial-justice-issue/?p1=BGSearch_Advanced_Results

- Boston Globe. (2014, September 13). Anti-terror technology requires public support. Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/opinion/editorials/2014/09/13/anti-terror-technology-requires-public-support/4weWZK3NYp9hVDXqa5GazI/story.html?p1=BGSearch Advanced Results
- Boston Globe. (2019, September 30). Algorithms will not solve criminal justice inequities. Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/opinion/letters/2019/09/29/algorithms-will-not-solve-criminal-justice-inequities/Eyyb4IWektnMykCRcMY09I/story.html?p1=BGSearch Advanced Results
- Bowcott, O., & correspondent, O. B. L. affairs. (2020, June 23). UK's facial recognition technology 'breaches privacy rights'. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2020/jun/23/uks-facial-recognition-technology-breaches-privacy-rights
- Bowles, N. (2016, April 8). 'I think my blackness is interfering': Does facial recognition show racial bias? The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2016/apr/08/facial-recognition-technology-racial-bias-police
- Buranyi, S. (2017, August 8). Rise of the racist robots how AI is learning all our worst impulses. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/inequality/2017/aug/08/rise-of-the-racist-robots-how-ai-is-learning-all-our-worst-impulses
- Burke, G. (2022, October 4). White House unveils artificial intelligence 'Bill of Rights'. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/ap-white-house-nelson-democracy-carnegie-mellon-university-b2195113.html
- BURKE, G., & DEAREN, J. (2022, September 1). Police use 'Fog Reveal' tool to search mobile phones without warrants. Chron. https://www.chron.com/news/nation-world/article/police-mass-surveillance-cellphone-17412293.php
- Cahn, F., & Veiszlemlein, J. (2020, March 19). Opinion | This high-tech way to try to slow the coronavirus spread has low-tech problems. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/think/opinion/covid-19-tracking-data-surveillance-risks-are-more-dangerous-their-ncna1164281
- Calkins, L. B. (2017, August 15). Texas voter maps blocked as racially biased by U.S. judges. Chron. https://www.chron.com/business/article/Texas-Voter-Maps-Blocked-as-Racially-Biased-by-11822877.php
- Callamard, A. (2023, March 10). French plans for AI surveillance during Olympics are dangerous. Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2023/3/10/french-plans-for-ai-surveillance-during-olympics-are-dangerous
- Caplan-Bricker, N. (2021, May 27). Is Online Test-Monitoring Here to Stay? The New Yorker. https://www.newyorker.com/tech/annals-of-technology/is-online-test-monitoring-here-to-stay
- Carbone, C. (2019a, January 17). Amazon investors press company to stop selling 'racially biased' surveillance tech to government agencies. Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/tech/amazon-shareholders-press-company-to-stop-selling-racially-biased-surveillance-tech-to-government-agencies
- Carbone, C. (2019b, January 29). Ocasio-Cortez slams Amazon for 'bias' in its facial detection technology. Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/tech/ocasio-cortez-slams-amazon-for-bias-in-its-facial-detection-technology
- Carbone, C. (2019c, January 31). San Francisco could ban facial recognition technology, becoming first US city to do so. Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/tech/san-francisco-could-ban-facial-recognition-technology-becoming-first-us-city-to-do-so
- Carbone, C. (2020, June 24). Boston bans police from using facial recognition technology. Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/tech/boston-bans-police-facial-recognition-technology
- CBS Baltimore. (2021, June 3). City Leaders, Advocates Raise Privacy And Bias Concerns About Use Of Facial Recognition In Baltimore. CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/baltimore/news/city-leaders-advocates-raise-privacy-and-bias-concerns-about-use-of-facial-recognition-in-baltimore/
- CBS Detroit. (2020, June 24). Detroit Police Challenged Over Face Recognition Flaws, Bias—CBS Detroit. CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/detroit/news/detroit-police-challenged-over-face-recognition-flaws-bias/?intcid=CNM-00-10abd1h
- CBS Miami. (2018, February 2). Russia Memo Released, Alleges FBI Abused Its Surveillance Tools In Favor Of Democrats. CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/miami/news/trump-release-russia-memo/
- CBS New York. (2016, January 7). NYC Settles Lawsuits Over Surveillance Of Muslims, Will Appoint Police Monitor. CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/newyork/news/nypd-muslim-surveillance-police-monitor/

- CBS Philadelphia. (2018, February 2). GOP Releases Controversial Memo Alleging Surveillance Abuses By FBI. CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/philadelphia/news/gop-fbi-memo-released/
- CBS San Francisco. (2018, June 7). Google Pledges Not to Use AI for Weapons or Surveillance. CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/sanfrancisco/news/google-pledges-artificial-intelligence/
- CBS San Francisco. (2019, June 12). San Francisco Prosecutors To Use AI To Reduce Racial Bias In Criminal Justice System. CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/sanfrancisco/news/san-francisco-artificial-intelligence-racias-bias-criminal-justice-system/
- Chambers, C. (2015, March 18). The psychology of mass government surveillance: How do the public respond and is it changing our behaviour? The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/science/head-quarters/2015/mar/18/the-psychology-of-mass-government-surveillance-how-do-the-public-respond-and-is-it-changing-our-behaviour
- Chokshi, N. (2019, June 13). How Surveillance Cameras Could Be Weaponized With A.I. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/06/13/us/aclu-surveillance-artificial-intelligence.html?searchResultPosition=3
- Cineas, F. (2020, April 22). Senators are demanding a solution to police stopping black men for wearing—And not wearing—Masks. Vox. https://www.vox.com/2020/4/22/21230999/black-men-wearing-masks-police-bias-harris-booker-senate
- Corbyn, Z. (2022, April 27). 'Bossware is coming for almost every worker': The software you might not realize is watching you. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2022/apr/27/remote-work-software-home-surveillance-computer-monitoring-pandemic
- Crowley, S. (2014, January 17). Transcript Obama's Speech on N.S.A. Phone Surveillance. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2014/01/18/us/politics/obamas-speech-on-nsa-phone-surveillance.html? searchResultPosition=19
- Cullen, T. (2018, January 29). Memo accuses Rod Rosenstein of approving surveillance on ex-Trump campaign advisor Carter Page. Nydailynews. https://www.nydailynews.com/news/politics/memo-rosenstein-approved-spying-extrump-campaign-aide-article-1.3785808
- Cumming-Bruce, N. (2020, December 7). U.N. Panel: Technology in Policing Can Reinforce Racial Bias. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/11/26/us/un-panel-technology-in-policing-can-reinforce-racial-bias.html?searchResultPosition=21
- Day, C., & Miller, Z. (2018, January 30). White House reviewing GOP memo alleging surveillance abuse. Chron. https://www.chron.com/news/nation-world/nation/article/White-House-reviewing-GOP-memo-alleging-12537833.php
- Dearden, L. (2019a, May 7). Facial recognition wrongly identifies public as potential criminals 96% of time in London. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/facial-recognition-london-inaccurate-met-police-trials-a8898946.html
- Dearden, L. (2019b, September 4). Police used facial recognition technology lawfully, High Court court rules. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/crime/police-facial-recognition-high-court-ruling-technology-privacy-south-wales-a9091241.html
- Dearden, L. (2020, January 24). Facial recognition to be rolled out across London by police, despite privacy concerns.

 The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/crime/facial-recognition-london-met-police-scotland-yard-privacy-a929986.html
- Delaney, M. (2022, December 13). Everything wrong with the Qatar World Cup. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/sport/football/world-cup/qatar-world-cup-2022-deaths-b2244081.html
- Devich-Cyril, M. (2017, May 8). The Antidote to Authoritarianism. The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2017/05/the-antidote-to-authoritarianism/525438/
- Devich-Cyril, M. (2020, July 5). Defund Facial Recognition. The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2020/07/defund-facial-recognition/613771/
- Dilanian, K. (2019, December 11). DOJ watchdog tells Senate he has deep concerns about FBI errors in Russia probe. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/justice-department/doj-watchdog-tell-senate-he-has-deep-concerns-about-fbi-n1099636
- Doctorow, C. (2023, February 7). This Is What Netflix Thinks Your Family Is. The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2023/02/netflix-streaming-password-sharing-family-household/672967/

- Dodd, V., Police, V. D., & correspondent, crime. (2022, October 27). UK police use of live facial recognition unlawful and unethical, report finds. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2022/oct/27/live-facial-recognition-police-study-uk
- Dubal, V. (2019, May 30). San Francisco was right to ban facial recognition. Surveillance is a real danger. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2019/may/30/san-francisco-ban-facial-recognition-surveillance
- Fallon, K. (2021, December 24). With drones and thermal cameras, Greek officials monitor refugees. Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/12/24/greece-pilots-high-tech-surveillance-system-in-refugee-camps
- Fernández, B. (2022, January 31). Biometric surveillance: Face-first plunge into dystopia. Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2022/1/31/biometric-surveillance-face-first-plunge-into-dystopia
- Fleetwood, N. R. (2020, August 7). Opinion | The case against mug shots—A dehumanizing tool of a racist police system. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/think/opinion/racist-police-practices-mug-shots-normalize-criminalization-black-americans-ncna1235694
- Forward, J. (2018, August 30). Woodlands agrees to have Homeland Security surveillance cameras installed around community. Chron. https://www.chron.com/neighborhood/woodlands/news/article/Woodlands-agrees-to-have-Homeland-Security-13434265.php
- Frankle, C. G., Jonathan. (2016, April 7). Facial-Recognition Software Might Have a Racial Bias Problem. The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2016/04/the-underlying-bias-of-facial-recognition-systems/476991/
- Friedersdorf, C. (2015, January 7). The NYPD Officers Who See Racial Bias in the NYPD. The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/national/archive/2015/01/the-nypd-officers-who-see-racial-bias-in-the-nypd/384106/
- FT reporters. (2021, May 17). In charts: Facial recognition technology and how much do we trust it? Financial Times. https://www.ft.com/content/f6a9548a-a235-414e-b5e5-3e262e386722
- Fuchs, C. (2016, January 8). New York City Settles Lawsuits Concerning Muslim Surveillance, Will Institute Reforms. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/news/asian-america/new-york-city-settles-lawsuits-concerning-muslim-surveillance-will-institute-n492811
- Ghaffary, S. (2019, July 18). Here's where the US government is using facial recognition technology to surveil Americans. Vox. https://www.vox.com/recode/2019/7/18/20698307/facial-recognition-technology-us-government-fight-for-the-future
- Gilliard, C. (2022, October 18). The Rise of 'Luxury Surveillance'. The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2022/10/amazon-tracking-devices-surveillance-state/671772/
- Goldberg, N. (2022, September 1). California investigating racial bias in healthcare algorithms. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-09-01/california-investigating-racial-bias-in-healthcare-algorithms
- Goldenberg, S., & Anuta, J. (2022, February 8). Adams eyes expansion of highly controversial police surveillance technology. POLITICO. https://www.politico.com/news/2022/02/08/adams-police-surveillance-technology-00006230
- Goldman, A. (2016, January 7). NYPD settles lawsuits over Muslim monitoring. The Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/nypd-settles-lawsuits-over-muslim-monitoring/2016/01/07/bdc8eb98-b3dc-11e5-9388-466021d971de_story.html
- Greer, E., & Bonesteel, A. (2022, November 2). Opinion | The dark side of America's doorbell camera obsession. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/think/opinion/amazons-ring-doorbell-videos-make-america-less-safe-crime-rcna55143
- Guesmi, H. (2021, October 6). Israeli surveillance and the end of politics as we know it. Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2021/10/6/israeli-surveillance-and-the-end-of-politics-as-we-know-it
- Hagerty, A., & Albert, A. (2021, April 21). Why we should be weary of AI that can read our emotions. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/tech/can-ai-read-emotions-b1833668.html
- Harmon, A. (2019, July 8). As Cameras Track Detroit's Residents, a Debate Ensues Over Racial Bias. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/07/08/us/detroit-facial-recognition-cameras.html?searchResultPosition=40

- Hays, G. (2022, December 2). Biden's domestic social media surveillance alarms major civil rights group: 'Do not need a new war on terror'. Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/media/bidens-domestic-social-media-surveillance-alarms-major-civil-rights-group-war-terror
- H.C. (2014, September). Surveillance state of confusion. The Economist. https://www.economist.com/babbage/2014/09/03/surveillance-state-of-confusion
- Heilweil, R. (2020, June 10). Big tech companies back away from selling facial recognition to police. That's progress. Vox. https://www.vox.com/recode/2020/6/10/21287194/amazon-microsoft-ibm-facial-recognition-moratorium-police
- Hern, A. (2017, January 4). Anti-surveillance clothing aims to hide wearers from facial recognition. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2017/jan/04/anti-surveillance-clothing-facial-recognition-hyperface
- Hernandez, D., & Figueroa, T. (2023, March 2). San Diego police want to add surveillance tech: 500 streetlight cameras plus license plate readers. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2023-03-02/san-diego-police-pitching-plan-to-use-streetlight-cameras-and-license-plate-readers
- Hernandez, M. (2022, July 12). Leaked L.A. County Sheriff's Department surveillance video shows inmate beaten by deputies. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-07-12/leaked-los-angeles-county-sheriffs-department-video-shows-inmate-beaten-by-deputies
- Hilton, S. (2018, February 10). Steve Hilton: Silicon Valley's surveillance capitalism has resulted in Big Tech killing off human privacy. Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/opinion/steve-hilton-silicon-valleys-surveillance-capitalism-has-resulted-in-big-tech-killing-off-human-privacy
- Huet, E., & Bergen, M. (2018, March 1). Google sued by ex-recruiter alleging anti-white, Asian bias. Chron. https://www.chron.com/techburger/article/Google-Sued-by-Ex-Recruiter-Over-Alleged-12722436.php
- Hutson, M. (2021, February 15). Who Should Stop Unethical A.I.? The New Yorker. https://www.newyorker.com/tech/annals-of-technology/who-should-stop-unethical-ai
- Hymes, C. (2020, September 2). Barr issues new rules for FBI surveillance warrants of political figures. CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/fbi-surveillance-fisa-warrants-political-figures-barr-doj/
- Ivanova, I. (2020, June 12). Why face-recognition technology has a bias problem. CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/facial-recognition-systems-racism-protests-police-bias/
- Jany, L. (2022, August 17). Police Commission sets new rules for how LAPD uses surveillance technology. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-08-17/lapd-adopts-new-rules-for-obtaining-using-t
- Kalaichandran, A. (2017, October 27). Facial recognition may reveal things we'd rather not tell the world. Are we ready? Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/ideas/2017/10/27/facial-recognition-may-reveal-things-rather-not-tell-world-are-ready/Emm34HWaDXInpYUBOaRMzH/story.html? p1=BGSearch Advanced Results
- Keierleber, M. (2022, September 30). The Trevor Project teams up with a student surveillance company accused of LGBTQ+ bias. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/education/2022/sep/30/trevor-project-gaggle-student-surveillance-lgbtq-bias
- Khullar, D. (2023, February 27). Can A.I. Treat Mental Illness? The New Yorker. https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2023/03/06/can-ai-treat-mental-illness
- Kobie, N. (2016, February 19). Surveillance state: Fingerprinting pupils raises safety and privacy concerns. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/sustainable-business/2016/feb/19/surveillance-state-fingerprinting-pupils-safety-privacy-biometrics
- LaFrance, A. (2015, April 8). How Drug War Surveillance Turned Into Terrorism Surveillance. The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2015/04/same-surveillance-state-different-war/389988/
- Lannan, K. (2019, June 18). Voters back moratorium on face recognition surveillance in Mass. Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/metro/2019/06/18/voters-back-moratorium-face-recognition-surveillance-mass/eUH62ELtgyvvOjrkcle7tI/story.html?p1=BGSearch Advanced Results
- Lehigh, S. (2023, February 26). Mass. Law enforcement's surveillance gets our attention. Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/2023/02/26/opinion/mass-law-enforcements-surveillance-gets-our-attention/? p1=BGSearch Advanced Results

- Levin, S. (2018, July 26). Amazon face recognition falsely matches 28 lawmakers with mugshots, ACLU says. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2018/jul/26/amazon-facial-rekognition-congress-mugshots-aclu
- Levin, S. (2019, March 29). 'Bias deep inside the code': The problem with AI 'ethics' in Silicon Valley. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2019/mar/28/big-tech-ai-ethics-boards-prejudice
- Malik, K. (2019, May 19). As surveillance culture grows, can we even hope to escape its reach? The Observer. https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2019/may/19/as-surveillance-culture-grows-can-we-even-hope-to-escape-its-reach
- Malik, K. (2022, June 19). Forget sentience... the worry is that AI copies human bias. The Observer. https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2022/jun/19/forget-sentience-the-worry-is-that-ai-copies-human-bias
- Marcus, J. (2021, June 2). Washington's biggest county bans police use of facial recognition. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/americas/us-politics/washington-amazon-facial-recognition-ban-b1858532.html
- Marzulli, J. (2013, November 1). NYPD intelligence head warns release of files for Muslim bias case will help evildoers. Nydailynews. https://www.nydailynews.com/news/crime/nypd-release-docs-muslim-case-helps-evildoers-article-1.1503538
- Mazzetti, M., & Mark, S. (2013, August 10). Obama promises more accountability in surveillance. Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/news/nation/2013/08/09/phone-spying-continue-with-new-overnight-obama-say/90nx2RWuQKW2NHjThMEXjN/story.html?p1=BGSearch Advanced Results
- McAuliff, M. (2019, December 11). Trump GOP supporters slam Justice Dept. Report on FBI surveillance of 2016 campaign. Nydailynews. https://www.nydailynews.com/news/politics/ny-trump-fbi-report-campaign-spying-20191211-njimoz7cijgytb4jgcreo4euye-story.html
- McCoy, T. (2015, October 13). The secret surveillance of 'suspicious' blacks in one of the nation's poshest neighborhoods. The Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/social-issues/the-secret-surveillance-of-suspicious-blacks-in-one-of-the-nations-poshest-neighborhoods/2015/10/13/2e47236c-6c4d-11e5-b31c-d80d62b53e28 story.html
- McDonald, H. (2019, December 12). AI expert calls for end to UK use of 'racially biased' algorithms. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2019/dec/12/ai-end-uk-use-racially-biased-algorithms-noel-sharkey
- McGowan, M. (2020, February 13). NSW police put children as young as nine, many of them Indigenous under surveillance. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2020/feb/14/nsw-police-put-children-as-young-as-nine-many-of-them-indigenous-under-surveillance
- Michel, A. H. (2023, February 27). Stadiums Have Gotten Downright Dystopian. The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2023/02/sports-stadiums-security-facial-recognition-surveillance-technology/673215/
- Mikati, M. (2018, December 23). Houston Asians meet with D.C. FBI about economic espionage, racial bias. Chron. https://www.chron.com/houston/article/Houston-Asians-meet-with-D-C-FBI-about-economic-13487522.php
- Miller, Z., Jalonick, M. C., & Day, C. (2018, February 2). Trump accuses FBI, Justice Department of favoring Democrats. Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/news/politics/2018/02/02/trump-accuses-fbi-justice-department-favoring-democrats/Pg2WNZnc7twB1Ps3VOVKvM/story.html?p1=BGSearch Advanced Results
- Molnar, E. T. A., Sarah Chander, Petra. (2020, November 23). Technology is the new border enforcer, and it discriminates. Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2020/11/23/technology-is-the-new-border-enforcer-and-it-discriminates
- Molnar, P., & Naranjo, D. (2020, April 15). Surveillance Won't Stop the Coronavirus. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/15/opinion/coronavirus-surveillance-privacy-rights.html? searchResultPosition=5
- Moynihan, C. (2016, January 7). A New York City Settlement on Surveillance of Muslims. The New Yorker. https://www.newyorker.com/news/news-desk/a-new-york-city-settlement-on-surveillance-of-muslims
- Moynihan, E. (2018, June 19). Woman bashed and bruised in Tribeca bias attack relives horror. Nydailynews. https://www.nydailynews.com/new-york/nyc-crime/ny-metro-tribeca-bias-attack-20180618-story.html
- Mukherjee, S. (2017, March 27). A.I. Versus M.D. The New Yorker. https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2017/04/03/ai-versus-md

- Murgia, M., & Stacey, K. (2021, May 13). Q&A: How is Big Tech dealing with ethical problems? Financial Times. https://www.ft.com/content/0c91c30e-f3c6-4219-bd33-475cc721ffbe
- Nast, C. (2022, June 2). When Cars Kill. The New Yorker. https://www.newyorker.com/news/our-local-correspondents/when-cars-kill-pedestrians
- News, M. K. K. H. (2022, November 21). After election win, California attorney general investigates hospital algorithms for racial bias. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-11-21/election-win-california-bonta-investigation-hospital-racial-bias
- Ng, K. (2020, June 11). Amazon bans police use of facial recognition over racial bias fears. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/americas/amazon-police-facial-recognition-ban-racism-a9560016.html
- Nickerson, R. (2020, August 26). West U set to install surveillance tools for police to track all cars that enter city by February. Chron. https://www.chron.com/neighborhood/bellaire/news/article/West-U-set-to-install-15-automatic-license-plate-15516328.php
- nydailynews. (2022, November 22). Gov. Hochul signs anti-bias bills, urges N.Y. to combat 'rising tide' of hate. Nydailynews. https://www.nydailynews.com/news/politics/new-york-elections-government/ny-gov-hochul-anti-bias-legislation-hate-crimes-20221122-jihwatclyrh2tcscqezebwx57u-story.html
- Parascandola, R. (2020, March 4). 100 surveillance cams coming to Brooklyn to combat anti-Semitic hate crimes. Nydailynews. https://www.nydailynews.com/new-york/nyc-crime/ny-security-cameras-brooklyn-anti-semitic-hate-crimes-20200304-yphdkblwjjgtzbmj5mf3l64-story.html
- Paris, D. (2020, August 7). Australia needs to face up to the dangers of facial recognition technology. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2020/aug/07/australia-needs-to-face-up-to-the-dangers-of-facial-recognition-technology
- Patel, F., & Price, M. (2014, June 23). NYPD vs. Muslims: The bias continues. Nydailynews. https://www.nydailynews.com/opinion/nypd-muslims-bias-continues-article-1.1838175
- PCmag, Facebook, Twitter, Flipboard, Print, & Email. (2018, June 27). Microsoft tweaks facial-recognition tech to combat bias. Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/tech/microsoft-tweaks-facial-recognition-tech-to-combat-bias
- Pittman Claytor, C. (2019, June 24). 'Shopping while black': Yes, bias against black customers is real. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2019/jun/24/shopping-while-black-yes-bias-against-black-customers-is-real
- Poole, S. (2020, April 1). Sway by Pragya Agarwal review how we are all unconsciously biased. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/books/2020/apr/01/sway-by-pragya-agarwal-review-how-we-are-all-unconsciously-biased
- Portilho, T. (2019, March 24). Opinion: The consequences of our blind faith in Artificial Intelligence are catching up to us. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/voices/artificial-intelligence-ethics-police-bias-healthcare-a8837286.html
- Price, M. (2013, August 16). The NYPD must stop all racial and religious profiling. MSNBC.Com. https://www.msnbc.com/msnbc/the-nypd-must-stop-all-racial-and-religious-msna76471
- Rahwan, I., & Powers, W. (2020, June 26). We can make surveillance work for us. Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/2020/06/26/opinion/benefits-surveillance-without-its-downsides/? p1=BGSearch Advanced Results
- Re, G. (2019a, March 21). FBI clashed with DOJ over potential 'bias' of source for surveillance warrant: McCabe-Page texts. Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/politics/fbi-clashed-doj-biased-fisa-source-texts-mccabe-page
- Re, G. (2019b, August 8). FBI kept using Steele dossier for FISA applications despite documenting ex-spy's bias, documents show. Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/politics/fbi-didnt-disclose-reason-to-doubt-credibility-of-key-source-to-fisa-court-docs-show
- Remnick, D. (2018, March 23). Cambridge Analytica and a Moral Reckoning in Silicon Valley. The New Yorker. https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2018/04/02/cambridge-analytica-and-a-moral-reckoning-in-silicon-valley
- Rivers, B. (2020, January 10). Opinion | FBI abuses spying on Trump campaign eerily echo Red Scare raids of 100 years ago. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/think/opinion/fbi-abuses-domestic-surveillance-trump-campaign-eerily-echo-red-scare-ncna1113696

- Rodriguez, C. (2023, April 11). Surveillance nets three migrants. Chron. https://www.chron.com/local/article/three-migrants-apprehended-following-surveillance-17891117.php
- Rogers, J. (2018, July 27). Amazon face recognition wrongly tagged lawmakers as police suspects, fueling racial bias concerns. Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/tech/amazon-face-recognition-wrongly-tagged-lawmakers-as-police-suspects-fueling-racial-bias-concerns
- Rosen, R. (2019, May 10). Somerville moves to ban facial recognition surveillance. Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/metro/2019/05/10/somerville-moves-ban-facial-recognition-surveillance/ebhl0qcX6k14O1H78yrpiI/story.html?p1=BGSearch_Advanced_Results
- Ruta, F. L. (2018, September). Do the benefits of artificial intelligence outweigh the risks? The Economist. https://www.economist.com/open-future/2018/09/10/do-the-benefits-of-artificial-intelligence-outweigh-the-risks
- Ryun, N. (2018, February 2). Why 'The Memo' matters so much Has our government become weaponized against an opposing political party? Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/opinion/why-the-memo-matters-so-much-has-our-government-become-weaponized-against-an-opposing-political-party
- Sabbagh, D. (2020, August 11). South Wales police lose landmark facial recognition case. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2020/aug/11/south-wales-police-lose-landmark-facial-recognition-case
- Sabbagh, D., Defence, D. S., & editor, security. (2019, August 12). Regulator looking at use of facial recognition at King's Cross site. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2019/aug/12/regulator-looking-at-use-of-facial-recognition-at-kings-cross-site
- Sample, I. (2019, July 29). What is facial recognition—And how sinister is it? The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2019/jul/29/what-is-facial-recognition-and-how-sinister-is-it
- Sanchez, J. (2019, December 18). The Chilling Reality of Bias at the F.B.I. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/12/18/opinion/fisa-court.html?searchResultPosition=9
- Sanger, D. E. (2014, May 2). In Surveillance Debate, White House Turns Its Focus to Silicon Valley. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2014/05/03/us/politics/white-house-shifts-surveillance-debate-to-private-sector.html?searchResultPosition=16
- Savage, C. (2013, July 25). Roberts's Picks Reshaping Secret Surveillance Court. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2013/07/26/us/politics/robertss-picks-reshaping-secret-surveillance-court.html? searchResultPosition=6
- Savage, C. (2019, December 11). We Just Got a Rare Look at National Security Surveillance. It Was Ugly. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/12/11/us/politics/fisa-surveillance-fbi.html?searchResultPosition=8
- Savage, C. (2020, January 15). F.B.I.'s Proposed Fixes Are Inadequate, Expert Tells Surveillance Court. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/01/15/us/politics/david-kris-fisa-fbi.html?searchResultPosition=10
- Savageand, C., & Goldman, A. (2019, December 9). AG criticizes report's finding of no bias in FBI Russia inquiry. Boston Globe. https://www.bostonglobe.com/news/nation/2019/12/09/watchdog-report-fbi-trump-russia-probe-justified-bias/zg1S1kMVasCrIYkfZYJbCN/story.html?p1=BGSearch Advanced Results
- Schuppe, J. (2018, July 30). Facial recognition gives police a powerful new tracking tool. It's also raising alarms. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/facial-recognition-gives-police-powerful-new-tracking-tool-it-s-n894936
- Segers, G. (2020, March 11). House votes to reauthorize surveillance law after striking deal on reforms. CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/house-vote-fisa-bill-reauthorize-surveillance-law-reforms/
- Sessions, K. (2023, March 1). Surveillance or savior? New data deepens divide over Houston gunshot tech. Chron. https://www.chron.com/news/houston-texas/article/houston-shotspotter-gunshot-detection-17809273.php
- Shear, M. D. (2019, December 15). Comey Admits Errors in Surveillance Warrants, but Defends F.B.I. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/12/15/us/politics/james-comey-fbi-carter-page.html? searchResultPosition=11
- Singer, N., & Metz, C. (2019, December 19). Many Facial-Recognition Systems Are Biased, Says U.S. Study. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/12/19/technology/facial-recognition-bias.html? searchResultPosition=18
- Singh, N. (2021, October 27). Supreme Court of India orders independent probe into Pegasus snooping claims. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/asia/india/pegasus-spyware-probe-supreme-court-b1946247.html

- Solon, O. (2019a, March 17). Facial recognition's 'dirty little secret': Social media photos used without consent. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/tech/internet/facial-recognition-s-dirty-little-secret-millions-online-photos-scraped-n981921
- Solon, O. (2019b, October 28). Microsoft funded firm doing secret Israeli surveillance on West Bank. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/news/all/why-did-microsoft-fund-israeli-firm-surveils-west-bank-palestinians-n1072116
- Solon, O. (2020a, June 12). Microsoft won't sell facial recognition to police without federal regulation. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/tech/internet/microsoft-won-t-sell-facial-recognition-police-without-federal-regulation-n1230286
- Solon, O. (2020b, June 22). Big Tech juggles ethical pledges on facial recognition with corporate interests. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/tech/security/big-tech-juggles-ethical-pledges-facial-recognition-corporate-interests-n1231778
- Solon, O. (2020c, June 30). Facial recognition has a new foe: The world's biggest group of computing professionals. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/tech/security/tech-worker-group-calls-facial-recognition-ban-citing-technical-ethical-n1232591
- Solon, O. (2020d, July 23). Facebook management ignored internal research showing racial bias, current and former employees say. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/tech/tech-news/facebook-management-ignored-internal-research-showing-racial-bias-current-former-n1234746
- Sommerfeldt, C., & Cullen, T. (2018, January 30). White House launches national security review of GOP memo suggesting FBI has anti-Trump bias. Nydailynews. https://www.nydailynews.com/news/politics/white-house-review-gop-memo-alleging-anti-trump-bias-fbi-article-1.3787879
- Soper, S., & Day, M. (2023, March 20). Amazon delivery firms say racial bias skews customer reviews. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/business/story/2023-03-20/amazon-delivery-firms-racial-bias-skews-customer-reviews
- Standaert, M. (2021, March 3). Smile for the camera: The dark side of China's emotion-recognition tech. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2021/mar/03/china-positive-energy-emotion-surveillance-recognition-tech
- Stokes, E. (2020, November 19). Wrongful arrest exposes racial bias in facial recognition technology. CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/detroit-facial-recognition-surveillance-camera-racial-bias-crime/
- Tapper, J. (2020, February 1). Hiding in plain sight: Activists don camouflage to beat Met surveillance. The Observer. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/feb/01/privacy-campaigners-dazzle-camouflage-met-police-surveillance
- The Associated Press. (2016, August 27). Study: Harris County death penalty cases biased. Chron. https://www.chron.com/neighborhood/woodlands/news/article/Study-Harris-County-death-penalty-cases-biased-9893686.php
- The Associated Press. (2018a, February 10). Trump administration halts release of Dems' memo rebutting GOP claims of FBI surveillance. Nydailynews. https://www.nydailynews.com/news/politics/trump-administration-halts-release-dems-fbi-memo-article-1.3811222
- The Associated Press. (2018b, March 28). Former FBI agent charged with leaking classified docs to expose 'systemic biases': Report. Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/politics/former-fbi-agent-charged-with-leaking-classified-docs-to-expose-systemic-biases-report
- The Associated Press. (2021, November 8). High court to hear secrets case over Muslim surveillance. Nydailynews. https://www.nydailynews.com/news/politics/us-elections-government/ny-us-supreme-court-government-surveillance-20211108-mbnajctawjglfh7tfoacg3d7ra-story.html
- The Economist. (2013, November). The people's panopticon. The Economist. https://www.economist.com/briefing/2013/11/14/the-peoples-panopticon
- The Economist. (2017, April). In pursuit of WikiLeaks. The Economist. https://www.economist.com/united-states/2017/04/27/in-pursuit-of-wikileaks
- The Economist. (2018, May). The promise and peril of big-data justice. The Economist. https://www.economist.com/technology-quarterly/2018/05/31/the-promise-and-peril-of-big-data-justice
- The economist. (2018, June). How data-driven policing threatens human freedom. The Economist. https://www.economist.com/open-future/2018/06/04/how-data-driven-policing-threatens-human-freedom

- The Economist. (2020, September). An ex-Homeland Security official alleges politics shaped intelligence. The Economist. https://www.economist.com/united-states/2020/09/10/an-ex-homeland-security-official-alleges-politics-shaped-intelligence
- The Economist. (2021, March). Spy agencies have big hopes for AI. The Economist. https://www.economist.com/science-and-technology/2021/03/02/spy-agencies-have-big-hopes-for-ai
- The Economist. (2022, May). Welcome to the era of the hyper-surveilled office. The Economist. https://www.economist.com/business/welcome-to-the-era-of-the-hyper-surveilled-office/21809219
- Thomas, E. (2019, June 11). Perth council facial recognition trial greeted with concern and scepticism. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2019/jun/12/perth-councils-facial-recognition-trial-accused-of-blanket-surveillance
- Tucker, E. (2023, February 8). Not just balloons: How US sees China spying as major worry. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/ap-china-christopher-wray-washington-huawei-b2278427.html
- Tugend, A. (2019, June 17). Exposing the Bias Embedded in Tech. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/06/17/business/artificial-intelligence-bias-tech.html?searchResultPosition=7
- Viebeck, E. (2016, May 2). Spy court rejected no surveillance requests last year; Sanders voters complain to FCC about media bias; did this man found Bitcoin? The Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/powerpost/wp/2016/05/02/spy-court-rejected-no-surveillance-requests-last-year-sanders-voters-complain-to-fcc-about-media-bias-did-this-man-found-bitcoin/
- Wang, O. S., Maya. (2021, November 24). Mass surveillance fuels oppression of Uighurs and Palestinians. Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2021/11/24/mass-surveillance-fuels-oppression-of-uyghurs-and-palestinians
- Whitehead, J. W. (2013, July 23). WHITEHEAD: Kafka's America: Secret courts, secret laws and total surveillance. Chron. https://www.chron.com/neighborhood/friendswood/opinion/article/WHITEHEAD-Kafka-s-America-Secret-courts-9460447.php
- Wiener, A. (2022, July 20). Waymo Cars, Honey Bears, and the Future of San Francisco. The New Yorker. https://www.newyorker.com/news/letter-from-silicon-valley/waymo-cars-and-honey-bears
- Woodwards, A. (2019, December 12). Trump's FBI 'deep state' conspiracy not backed by evidence, watchdog tells Senate. The Independent. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/americas/us-politics/trump-deep-state-conspiracy-theory-fbi-surveillance-investigation-a9243041.html
- Yan, R. (2023, March 5). University of Houston will no longer consider DEI statements when hiring. Chron. https://www.chron.com/news/houston-texas/education/article/university-houston-diversity-equity-inclusion-17819951.php
- York, J. C. (2013, June 25). The chilling effects of surveillance. Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2013/6/25/the-chilling-effects-of-surveillance
- Yuan, S. (2020, March 1). How China is using AI and big data to fight the coronavirus. Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2020/3/1/how-china-is-using-ai-and-big-data-to-fight-the-coronavirus
- Yurcaba, J. (2021, August 19). Refusal to treat, verbal abuse: Trans people face overwhelming health care discrimination. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/nbc-out/out-health-and-wellness/nearly-half-transpeople-mistreated-medical-providers-report-finds-rcna1695
- Zahzah, O. (2021, May 13). Digital apartheid: Palestinians being silenced on social media. Al Jazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2021/5/13/social-media-companies-are-trying-to-silence-palestinian-voices
- Zegart, A. (2022, February 2). Author Amy Zegart on the future of American intelligence—"Intelligence Matters". CBS. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/author-amy-zegart-on-the-future-of-american-intelligence-intelligence-matters/